British Columbia Early Learning Framework







S o my story is about an open-ended early childhood education in a centre that occupies and contributes to an unfinished world, a place of infinite possibilities, giving constant rise to wonder and surprise, magic moments and goose bumps, and a source of hope and renewed belief in the world: a place, too, where 'freedom, democracy and solidarity are practiced and where the value of peace is promoted'. (Moss, 2013, p. 82)

Contents

Introduction
What's Changed in the Revised Early Learning Framework
Connecting the Early Years with the Primary Years
Using the Early Learning Framework
Section One: Exploring the Early Learning Framework
Vision
Principles of Learning
Context
Legislation, Frameworks, and Human Rights Agreements
Building Professionalism of Educators 41
Section Two: Rethinking Learning and Practice
What Is a Pedagogy of Listening?
What Is Critical Reflection?
What is Collaborative Dialogue?
What is Pedagogical Narration?
Section Three: Living and Learning Together
Well-Being And Belonging
Others, Materials, and the World
Communication and Literacies
Identities, Social Responsibility, and Diversity
Examples of Engaging in the Process of Pedagogical Narration
Glossary
References
Acknowledgements





Introduction

The revised Early Learning Framework is the culmination of a collaborative process that included **early childhood educators**, primary teachers, academics, Indigenous organizations, Elders, government, and other professionals. Hundreds of people across the province contributed their feedback on drafts of this framework through provincial regional sessions, town hall conference calls, an online survey, advisory group sessions, and numerous consultation meetings. The process has been lively, with rich discussions that brought forward many perspectives. Central to these discussions was the acknowledgement that this framework has been, and continues to be, vital to early years practices for **educators**, children, and families in B.C.

The first Early Learning Framework published in 2008 changed the landscape of early years practice in

-expanding an idea

Pedagogical narration is the process of noticing and collecting moments from daily practice and sharing these with colleagues, children, and families to make children's learning processes and inquiries, as well as educators' **pedagogical choices**, visible and open to interpretation and reflection. Engaging with pedagogical narration is central to the vision of this framework. (See Section Two: Rethinking Learning and Practice p. 45

for an in-depth description)

British Columbia. It presented an image of the child as capable and full of potential, and introduced **pedagogical narration** as a process for reflecting on the knowledge and understandings of childhood. The 2008 framework served to broaden the dialogue about early learning in our province.

Note: Words in **bold blue** can be found in the Glossary.

What's Changed in the Revised Early Learning Framework

Since 2008, there have been significant developments in the social, political, economic, and cultural context of B.C. that have created new realities for children, families, and communities. These new realities require consideration of concepts, language, and connections that revitalize the thinking about practice. This revised Early Learning Framework acknowledges these new realities and the changing perspectives and relations they bring.

The revised Early Learning Framework:

- Expands the focus on children from birth to five years in the original framework to children birth to eight years. This means the vision, principles, and context articulated here are relevant to working with children (and their families) from birth to Grade 3.
- Connects with B.C.'s New Curriculum and Core
 Competencies (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2018b).
 Concepts in the framework can be interwoven with the B.C. Curriculum to inspire both early childhood educators and educators working with children in Kindergarten to Grade 3.

definition

Educator:

an adult who works in early years settings, school-based settings, community-based settings, and postsecondary settings, including early childhood educators and teachers. While it is acknowledged that many terms are in use and people may have preferences on what they call themselves, this framework recognizes that adults who work in these settings are all educators.

- Resists language, concepts, and pedagogies that perpetuate legacies of colonization and marginalization of Indigenous people. To support this effort, the new framework was developed in consultation with the BC Aboriginal Child Care Society, the First Nations Education Steering Committee, and Métis Nation BC.
- Strives to contribute to lasting reconciliation with Indigenous people, which is anchored by the
 province's cross-government commitment to fully adopt and implement the United Nations Declaration
 on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), and the Calls to Action of the Truth and Reconciliation
 Commission (TRC). Recognizing and acknowledging how Euro-western practices are embedded in
 mainstream educational pedagogy, this framework's intention is to contribute to reconciliation
 through implicitly and explicitly honouring Indigenous authorities in education.
- Strengthens the vision of inclusive spaces and practices for all children, including children with diverse abilities and needs.
- Envisions learning and being as a **holistic** process that happens as children and adults come together in relationship with each other, ideas, materials, places, and histories.

- Introduces language that may be new to some
 educators. The use of this language is intentional as
 it helps in expressing new ways of thinking about the
 complexities of childhood care and learning. Using
 new language can offer different ways of seeing,
 which can inspire new conversations.
- Uses the term "living inquiries" (known as "areas of learning" in the 2008 Early Learning Framework) and "pathways" (known as "learning goals" in the 2008 Early Learning Framework) that will help to describe the thinking, doing, and learning that happens as children, educators, materials, and ideas interconnect.

Connecting the Early Years with the Primary Years

The Primary Program: A Framework for Teaching (2000) provides a structure for primary teachers to foster the continuing growth of children's knowledge and understanding of themselves, others, and the world. The B.C. Primary Teachers' Association recommends updates to the Primary Program to ensure that it affirms the need for a safe, caring, stimulating environment where learning flourishes in the primary years, beyond the early learning years of ages birth to five. Any updates to the Primary Program will be closely aligned with and build upon the foundation for learning established within the B.C. Early Learning Framework.

"In line with the latest scientific knowledge, supporting the holistic development of children with care and empathy is a strategic priority for reducing inequalities and enduring children well-being" (OECD, 2018, p. 4).

See the section Bridging early years and primary years on p. 28 in Section One.

-expanding an idea

Language matters. The words we use can hold meanings that may narrow how we see what a child is doing. New words can lead to new ways to see.

-expanding an idea

The term "living" suggests that these processes are ongoing and always evolving. "Inquire" means to pay attention in multiple ways: to study, explore, and ask questions. The term "pathways" evokes a sense of movement that is not linear. These new terms are an intentional shift away from terms that suggest predictable outcomes, and they reflect the First Peoples Principles of Learning (see p. 14). The four living inquiries are described in detail starting on p. 67, and the pathways for engaging with the living inquiries begin on p. 69

-expanding an idea

The revised Early Learning Framework recognizes the important role of "education as the central driver in achieving equal opportunities with a vision to transform lives through education and guarantee the full development and blossoming of children from their earliest years." (Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development [OECD], 2018, p. 2)



Using the Early Learning Framework

Every reader will use the framework in a way that suits them best. It is intended to be lived with over time, to be reflected on in collaboration with others, and to inspire **educators** to stop and think about why they practise in particular ways. An individual may choose to read the framework alone or share it with colleagues as a starting point for dialogue. The ideas in the framework are set out in sections, but they are all interconnected. A group may take up the ideas section by section, meander according to interests, or focus on a particular concept. For example, a group may choose to consider images of children and childhood, with each person finding a different section that inspires them. Or a group may decide to choose one principle to think about over time. The Early Learning Framework is a flexible document to be challenged by but also to bring joy.

The Early Learning Framework does not prescribe specific "how-tos" of practice or suggest a "right way" to work with children and families. Rather, it is intended to inspire pedagogical approaches that are relevant and respectful of local communities and the people who live in those communities.

This framework is designed for use by:

- Early childhood educators
- Primary school teachers/educators
- Principals and vice-principals
- College and university educators and researchers

- Post-secondary students in early childhood and elementary education programs
- Pedagogists
- Other early years professionals
- Communities, governments, and families



definition

Pedagogist:

a professional responsible for helping to create and sustain quality early childhood education (ECE) programs by supporting educators to continue to implement the B.C. Early Learning Framework; to design, execute, and evaluate inquiries/projects within their practice settings; and to engage in critically reflective dialogue about pedagogical practice through pedagogical narrations. They immerse themselves in the centres, support the educators' efforts to engage with children and families in innovative, critically reflective practice, and extend the practice of the educators and the children by introducing new ideas and materials.





Section One



Exploring the Early Learning Framework



he Early Learning Framework is an invitation to re-envision early care and learning spaces, education systems, and society. It is intended to promote dialogue about understandings of childhood, knowledge, education, and learning.

These dialogues are important as a means of challenging the dominance of child development theories formulated within the discipline of developmental psychology. Developmental theories formulated by Piaget, Erikson, and Bowlby (Pacini-Ketchabaw, Nxumalo, Kocher, Elliot, & Sanchez,



2015, p. 24) set forth universal age-related stages that constitute "normal" child development and suggest that every child learns in a predictable, linear progression, regardless of context or community. Within this view, the **educator's** role is to be knowledgeable about developmental stages and implement programs and strategies that foster "normal" growth and development in children. Over time, some of this knowledge has settled so firmly into the fabric of early childhood studies that its familiarity makes it just seem "right," "best," and "**ethical**" (MacNaughton, 2005, p. 1).

This framework

...carries the hope of inspiring and supporting the creation of rich, joyful early childhood spaces where children, adults, ideas, and materials come together, and where knowledge is constructed about learning and living in ways that are local, **inclusive**, ethical, and democratic. However, many scholars and educators are challenging the dominance of developmental theories and argue that the values and assumptions embedded in them arose from particular social and political contexts. Child development theories privilege certain voices, knowledges, and understandings by suggesting universal ways of thinking about children, educators, and communities, while other perspectives are **marginalized** or silenced (Pacini-Ketchabaw et al., 2015, p. 24). By critically reflecting on the assumptions embedded in developmental theories, educators can explore different theories and different perspectives.

This framework opens dialogues about knowledge, education, and learning. The ideas presented in this document create space for multiple ways of thinking about knowledge and the purpose of education.



Vision

Respectfully living and learning together.

This section outlines the Vision of the Early Learning Framework and describes the Principles and Context that underpin the Vision. Together these highlight ways of thinking about learning and practice, not to offer criteria or certainties but to promote thoughtful consideration.



Early care and learning settings and schools serve as places of dialogue in which community members discuss, share, and debate the values they hold about knowledge, education, and how to live well together in ways that are respectful, local, and meaningful.



Early care and learning for children aged birth to eight is based on an image of the child as capable and full of potential. All children are celebrated as strong, competent in their uniqueness, and having a secure sense of belonging. Children can **experiment**, investigate, and inquire in ways that are relevant and meaningful to them. They are provided with opportunities to enrich and deepen their relationships with place, land, and community. Within the contexts of their individual and cultural

identities, children are listened to and valued for their ideas and knowledge. Learning and education is envisioned as a continuum as children transition between early care and learning programs, schools, and other services.

Educators have opportunities for ongoing dialogue with colleagues, families, and the broader community to consider how developmental theories have shaped perspectives and pedagogies of childhood and learning. By coming together in communities of practice, educators consider many different perspectives and engage with the complexities of practice in a spirit of **experimentation** that is local and respectful.



Communities and governments will work in partnership to affirm children as citizens who are valued members of their communities and contributors to their societies. Adults will work to create a space where pride of languages and **cultures** are cultivated, and in which children can take up social and traditional responsibilities. As part of their efforts to understand, value, and accept responsibility for promoting early learning, all levels of government and all communities will work together to nurture and support children and families, and to support parents, grandparents, and other family members in their efforts to promote children's learning and overall well-being.



Reconciliation acknowledges that there is value for all students when Indigenous content and **worldviews** are shared in early learning settings and classrooms in a meaningful and authentic way. Reconciliation requires **educators** to collaborate and build new relationships with Indigenous communities to better support the education of Indigenous and non-Indigenous children and families in learning about residential schools and Indigenous histories.

Where early care and learning programs and schools are situated within or near Indigenous communities, educators can contribute to the social well-being and cultural vitality of the community by exploring ways of honouring and learning from community Elders. With appropriate recognition, this can be a joyful education across deep historical divides. The way to approach it is to respectfully ask, learn from, and contribute to those invited to share, teach, and join early learning communities. Educators can play an important role in promoting and contributing to healing and justice.

"Education has gotten us into this mess, and education will get us out" (Justice Murray Sinclair, as quoted in Watters, 2015).

definition

Pedagogy:

the method and practice of teaching by exploring ideas and issues and creating environments where learning and thinking can flourish. With this understanding, education and pedagogy are not about learning facts but are concerned with **ethical** questions of living in the world together.

definition

Experiment:

in the context of this framework, to be open to something new, a way of thinking and doing that did not previously exist. To experiment with pedagogy means to go beyond the usual practices in order to create and tell different stories of knowing and being in our **common world**.



Principles of Learning

The First Peoples Principles of Learning and the Early Learning Framework Principles may be considered in many different ways and are intended to inspire pedagogies for all children, families, and communities, regardless of ethnicity, gender, sexuality, **culture**, language, abilities, or socio- economic status.

First Peoples Principles of Learning

The First Peoples Principles of Learning were developed in partnership with the First Nations Education Steering Committee and the B.C. Ministry of Education and are an important element of the B.C. education curriculum. They articulate an expression of the shared wisdom of Elders from Indigenous communities throughout British Columbia and were embedded into the B.C. curriculum and the Early Learning Framework. This was done in an effort to transform B.C.'s education and early learning system to reflect Indigenous perspectives, knowledges, values, and understandings.

The principles are:

- Learning ultimately supports the well-being of the self, the family, the community, the land, the spirits, and the ancestors.
- Learning is holistic, reflexive, reflective, experiential, and relational (focused on connectedness, on reciprocal relationships, and a sense of place).
- Learning involves recognizing the consequences of one's actions.
- Learning involves generational roles and responsibilities.
- Learning recognizes the role of Indigenous knowledge.
- Learning is embedded in memory, history, and story.
- Learning involves patience and time.
- Learning requires exploration of one's identity.
- Learning involves recognizing that some knowledge is sacred and only shared with permission and/or in certain situations.

(First Nations Education Steering Committee, 2012)





Early Learning Framework Principles

The Early Learning Framework Principles set forth ways of thinking about childhood, learning, and practicing that underpin the vision of respectfully living and learning together.

The principles are:

- Children are strong, capable in their uniqueness, and full of potential.
- Families have the most important role in contributing to children's well-being and learning.
- Educators are researchers and collaborators.
- Early years spaces are inclusive.
- People build connection and reconnection to land, culture, community and place.
- Environments are integral to well-being and learning.
- Play is integral to well-being and learning.
- Relationships are the context for well-being and learning.
- Learning is holistic.

The following describes each of the principles in more depth.

Children are strong, capable in their uniqueness, and full of potential

This framework upholds the image of every child as a gift, as strong and capable in their uniqueness and full of potential, living and growing in complex interdependence with humans and **all world relations**. This image of the child is a key concept in the Early Learning Framework.

• Everyone has images of children and childhood from their **cultures**, knowledge, personal histories, and aspirations for the future. A person's images of children reflect their beliefs and ideas about children, as well as ideas about what is possible and desirable for human life at the individual, social, and global level.



All world relations:

the understanding that humans, creatures, plants, trees, and nonliving entities, forces, and landforms are all interconnected. Western ways of thinking create separation between all these and place humans as exceptional. The notion of all world relations is embedded in a **common worlds framework** and suggests that all beings and non-living entities are entangled and dependent on one another.

- Images of the child and childhood strongly influence how adults engage with children, and what intentions inform the choices they make in all they do with and for children. Engaging with differing views of children and childhood is essential to education in a socially and culturally diverse society.
- The vision of this framework is to generate dialogue in early years settings and beyond about images of children and childhood. This will help create conditions where every child and family can participate and contribute to common or shared worlds.
- Children begin learning from the moment they are born in a continuum that is not linear or universal, but collective and complex.

The vision for Métis children in BC is that "Métis children throughout British Columbia experience a state of well-being that allows them to live healthy and happy lives, and to fulfill their full potential as individuals, members of their family, their community, the Métis Nation, and as British Columbians" (Métis Nation BC, personal communication, March 20, 2019).



Families have the most important role in contributing to children's well-being and learning

Families are the first teachers, the primary caregivers, and the knowledge-holders of their children. Families have the most important role in promoting their children's well-being and learning.

- For all communities, learning often involves more than one generation. Elders and grandparents can be central to early learning programs, and their knowledge of cultural traditions and language can be of great benefit to the children, families, **educators**, and community.
- Family diversity may include families who are experiencing challenges. This framework aims to build capacity of professionals to recognize these challenges, and to respond appropriately and work empathetically with all families.

"The care of Indigenous children is a sacred and communal responsibility starting with parents and family and extending to community and nation" (First Nations Early Childhood Development Council, 2011, p. 10).

"Strong webs of community relationships provide First Nations children with opportunities to thrive and succeed. These webs of are woven by the love of family members and the wisdom of Elders. They are maintained by hard-working ECEs, knowledgeable educational professionals, multi-talented program managers, reliable service providers and experienced community administrators. The role of parents in a community cannot be underestimated. They must be proud to be their child's first and primary teacher. Caring parents who feel supported by their communities have strong voices capable of directing how community ECD services are implemented and evaluated. Their voices need to be heard and their roles within the community need to be extended and supported" (First Nations Early Childhood Development *Council*, 2011, *p*. 17).





Educators are Researchers and Collaborators

The early childhood educator as researcher "is open to the other, striving to listen without grasping the other and making the other into the same" (Moss, 2006, p. 37).



Educators collaborate with children and their families as partners in research. This means educators are continually observing, listening, and experimenting with an openness to the unexpected. The role of the educator has shifted away from being a transmitter of knowledge toward being a collaborator who creates conditions so that children can invent, investigate, build theories, and learn. Educators work in relationship with children, and strive to ensure children feel safe, confident, motivated, and listened to.

Children and adults alike are engaged in thinking deeply, and welcome multiple perspectives, complexity, and diversity. Educators work with a pedagogy of listening to notice the many ways children express themselves, recognizing that intentional, open listening is the basis of a reciprocal relationship (Rinaldi, 2001, p. 80). (For more on pedagogy of listening, see Section Two p. 48)

"Listening is not easy. It requires a deep awareness and at the same time a suspension of our judgments and above all our prejudices; it requires openness to change. It demands that we have clearly in mind the value of the unknown and that we are able to overcome the sense of emptiness and precariousness that we experience whenever our certainties are questioned" (Rinaldi, 2001, p. 80).

- Educators foster a curiosity that leads them to seek ways to extend not only children's learning but also their own. They examine their practices and expectations to consider their biases and expectations and how these may perpetuate racism or prejudices.
- Educators do not see themselves as holding the "right" knowledge of **pedagogy** and practice. Rather, they are learners as well as educators, continually reflecting. This is not to say that "anything goes" in practice; instead educators make intentional choices inspired by the pedagogical approaches in this framework.





Early years spaces are inclusive

Classrooms and early care and learning settings are welcoming, **inclusive**, and enriching places where every child and family feel they belong. Each child has histories, contexts, gifts, capabilities, and potential that can be honoured and nurtured with responsive practices and environments. Regardless of socio-economic status, geographic isolation, gender, sexuality, ethnicity, abilities and learning needs, family structure and values, every child should be welcomed and empowered to pursue their gifts.

- Educators reflect on their personal histories and their images of child and childhood to challenge outdated beliefs, prejudices, and cultural opinions.
- The goal of inclusion requires educators to create physical spaces, routines, and approaches that allow each child to participate, to think, and to discover in their unique ways. As educators create opportunities for each child to learn and participate, they are aware of a range of additional supports and services and the importance of engaging collaboratively with families in seeking supports when required. This framework is rooted in a vision of inclusion and sensitivity to the multiple and diverse ways of learning and being.

definition

Inclusive learning and care: The principle that children of all abilities, including children with diverse abilities and needs, have equitable access to quality learning and child care and are supported in play and learning along with other children in a regular program. Inclusive learning and care supports the individual strengths and needs of each child, allowing them to meaningfully engage, learn, and contribute to the community and **culture** of their program. All educators, providers, and parents/caregivers collaborate as a team to meet the needs of children in their programs. The presence and engagement of a diverse group of children provides significant opportunities to learn about, value and celebrate **diversity** in communities.

"The focus is on gifts and not deficits

Children's spirit knows what they need

If you can find that child's gifts, that child can do anything."

(Participant, as cited in B.C. Aboriginal Child Care Society, 2017, p. 30).



Indigenous Values and Beliefs

- First Nations children are sacred gifts from the Creator
- Each child is born with gifts.
- Children are the present and future of our families, communities, and Nations.
- Caring for children is a sacred and shared responsibility.
- Parents and families are recognized as the first teachers and caregivers of their children.

(First Nations Early Childhood Development Council, 2011, p. 20).





definition

Diversity:

the different beliefs, customs, practices, languages, behaviours, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, and physical differences of individuals and cultural groups. Honouring diversity is based on the principle that differences that are recognized and celebrated benefit our communities. Honouring diversity requires that we encourage understanding, acceptance, mutual respect and **inclusion**, in order to make schools, communities, and society more equitable for all people.



People build connection and reconnection to land, culture, community, and place

Children develop a sense of place when they connect with their local communities and outdoor environment. Early learning is "of a place" when children and **educators** engage with local histories with respectful curiosity and a desire to contribute and share. Indigenous peoples have been the knowledge keepers of these places for hundreds of generations. Indigenous languages are some of the voices of these places.

 British Columbians face numerous challenges related to a legacy of environmental damage (such as climate change, damaging waste emissions, mass species extinction) that humans are responsible for and vulnerable to. Education is among many disciplines faced with the question of how to respond to the environmental crisis, to consider our interdependence with the natural world, and to generate dialogue about our collective responsibility. A common worlds framework recognizes that we collectively share this world with all creatures, plants, trees, and non-living entities and landforms. Humans

-expanding an idea

Place is any environment, locality, or context with which people interact to learn, create memory, reflect on history, connect with culture, and establish identity. The connection between people and place is central to First Peoples perspectives of the world (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2016).

are dependent on one another and these all world relations.

 Educators can reflect on practices that enrich and deepen children's relationships with place, land, and community. Children, with their boundless imaginations and sense of adventure, will be the leaders and innovators who will both inherit and re-create our societies in the future.



Environments are integral to well-being and learning

The importance of the early care and learning environment – sometimes referred to as the "third teacher" – cannot be underestimated in shaping the experiences of children and adults. Children and adults live and learn in relationships with the people around them but are also profoundly affected by their relationships with spaces and materials.

- Educators pay attention to how children, both individually and in groups, interact, respond and engage with all aspects of the environment. Educators **experiment** with environments with the intention of promoting **inclusion**, building relationships, and provoking more complex thinking.
- Educators incorporate culturally responsive objects and materials, implemented with regard to the individual school context, the diversity of the children using the space, and the aspirations of the community.
- Educators consider and include every child's way of being, doing, and learning so that every child can participate, and their abilities and interests are honoured.
- Pedagogy takes place outdoors and indoors, and both are inherently valuable.
- Environments are made up of three elements:
 - Space and place
 - Materials
 - Time: rhythms and flows



- Each of these elements can be discussed and reflected on individually; however, they are inextricably connected, and each has an effect on the others.
- These elements are always in a relationship with people, place, ideas, and **culture**.

Space and place

The arrangement of furniture, structures, and objects in a space – whether indoors or outdoors – sends messages about how people can move and relate to others. The arrangement of spaces can invite small- and large-group interaction, inspire collaborative learning, celebrate **diversity**, and invite children to explore and express their identities and cultures. When educators notice how space is accessed, they can creatively respond, providing spaces to open possibilities for children to extend their thinking and experiment with new ways of being.

Materials

Children and adults have relationships with materials. Different materials (such as toys, objects, art supplies) that children encounter invite different kinds of participation and engagement. Some materials are limited in how they can be used while other materials open many different possibilities for experimentation and lively interaction.





- Educators carefully observe what happens between materials and children, and consider materials in relation to the image of the child, and in relation to the other principles in this framework.
- Offering culturally responsive objects, materials, and design that recognize, support, and reflect the value of children's identities, languages and cultures convey to children that their culture is acknowledged and valued, and that they will not have to shelve or conceal their cultural identity to participate and achieve within the environment.



"Materials live in the world in multiple ways. They can evoke memories, narrate stories, invite actions, and communicate meanings. Materials and objects create meeting places. In early childhood education we gather around things to investigate, negotiate, converse, and share. Materials – a block of clay, pots of paint, a brush, a colourful wire, a translucent sheet of paper, a rectangular block – beckon and draw us in. Materials are not immutable, passive, or lifeless until the moment we do something to them; they participate in our early childhood projects. They live, speak, gesture, and call to us" (Kind, S., 2014, p. 865).

Time: Rhythms and flows

How time is organized can have a dramatic impact on how children and adults engage with one another and affect the kind of play and learning that occurs. Designing schedules that minimize transitions and create long periods of uninterrupted time allow children to develop their ideas and to pursue their inquiries. Fewer transitions also allow adults to spend time alongside children, observing, noticing, and co-researching.

 Considering time as having rhythms and flows can invigorate educators and children to reimagine their days together.

Play is integral to well-being and learning

Play is vital to children's learning, growing, and making meaning. This framework uses many terms related to play, such as "engagement," **"experimentation**," **"inquiry**," "building theories," "participating," "making meaning," and "investigating." By broadening the vocabulary around play, educators may begin to see play in different ways, which in turn can enrich conversations.

- Play can be individual, collective, spontaneous, planned, experimental, purposeful, unpredictable, or dynamic. This framework promotes the importance of play for children to experience the world through seeing, feeling, touching, listening, and by engaging with people, materials, places, species, and ideas.
- Play is an approach to inquiry, a way to research the world. By providing diverse materials and experiences, educators create spaces for experimentation and transformation.
- Educators can record moments of play using pedagogical narrations to make learning visible, to invite others (colleagues, children, families) to share their perspectives, and to consider different theoretical perspectives.







- Educators can use pedagogical narrations to critically reflect on children's play and to notice when play is unfair, or when uneven relationships of power or injustices are enacted.
- By paying attention to play, educators can make decisions about further provocations for thinking for both adults and children.

"To say that we play together is an unjust oversimplification: Rather we are in an ongoing process of becoming... Our curriculum is lived out daily; it exists with[in] all of us. Clay, paper, materials, children, educators, objects, music ... are all powerful forces and they bring forth movement, history, and multiple layers of meaning" (Argent, 2014, p. 848).



Relationships are the context for well-being and learning

People thrive in responsive, reciprocal, respectful relationships with others, and with place and **culture**.

- Working within a pedagogy of listening (see p. 48) means educators are living and learning alongside children and families, with an openness to new possibilities.
- Strong relationships are nurtured through respect, time, care, and understanding.

Learning is holistic

People learn with the mind, body, and spirit and in a relationship with others and the environment. Children are gaining knowledge as they create and test theories, explore the world, and express ideas. Learning does not occur in a predictable linear progression; rather learning is **rhizomatic**, moving in unexpected and surprising directions as children are in relationships with people, place, ideas, and materials.

definition

Rhizome:

A plant, such as a fern, that sends underground shoots off in many directions with no predictable pattern. The image of the rhizome is a useful way to think about pedagogies. Thinking of learning as rhizomatic leads to understanding that learning cannot be predetermined or have a prescribed outcome but is always producing something new.

- Children with diverse abilities may use different approaches to construct knowledge, test theories, explore, and express ideas. Some children may prefer more auditory or visual approaches, while others may depend on social responses.
- It is important to recognize that learning may look and be approached differently.
- A **holistic** approach recognizes that all areas of learning: physical, emotional, social, linguistic, visual, auditory, and intellectual are closely interrelated and occur simultaneously.



"It's hard to pull the culture and the education together. It's hard in a setting different from our way of life

You have to pull worlds together People don't understand

Adults themselves need to learn

Preschool 'comes down to mainstream' [is mainstream]. It's hard to find teachings ...

In our ways, these are taught by elders, not by institutions. This is teaching for the survival of our people."

(Participant, as cited in B.C. Aboriginal Child Care Society, 2017, p. 30).





Context

This section addresses important social, economic, theoretical and historical contextual factors that contribute to the many ways educators approach practice. It identifies legislative commitments and frameworks, provincially, federally, and internationally, including human rights agreements that affirm commitments to equality, dignity, and respect and deeply influence education and care.

Considering these contextual factors can provide educators with a deeper understanding of the diversity of perspectives that shape learning in B.C. Bringing forward these factors opens space for community engagement to acknowledge and discuss the complexities of practice, and the realities of educating in the 21 st century.

Engaging with complexity

Early childhood and primary pedagogies are dynamic and complex and involve multiple, diverse, and changing relationships. There is no "one-size-fits-all" way to practise. Rather, pedagogies occur in relationship with families, children, communities, legislation, policies, places, ideas, materials, and histories. This complexity may bring tensions and difficult conversations as educators grapple with questions of what learning and education can be, and who children and educators can be. Education and care without these complexities and uncertainties are unavoidable in a democratic **culture**. While tension can be uncomfortable, it can also help educators focus on what children bring into the world and what the world brings to children. Engaging with complexity means accommodating many ways of thinking, seeing, doing, and knowing as well as being a condition of professionalism in early learning.

Theory and practice

Theory and practice are sometimes thought of as separate: theory is the realm of academics and practice is the realm of educators. However, theory and practice are interconnected, each influencing the other. Daily practices (rules, routines, and habitual words or phrases) are grounded in theories that shape what is expected from children and how the role of the educator is viewed.







For example, circle time is often considered an important daily routine. If educators begin to question why circle time is embedded in practice, they may consider the image of the child and the image of the educator that underpin it, and the theories these images have emerged from. They may ask: What is expected of children in circle time? What is the purpose of circle time? What theories underlie the purpose? Critically reflecting on circle time makes visible how theory and practice are deeply intertwined. When educators pause, notice, and reflect on their work with young children, they can notice how theories are embedded in practice and can begin to consider different theories and possibilities. This process of stretching thinking beyond known understandings is called **critically reflective practice** and is central to the framework.

Educators draw on a range of perspectives in their work, which may include:

- Socio-cultural theories that view children as active and inventive learners and emphasize the central role that families, culture, historical, economic, and political contexts influence how and what children learn.
- Post-foundational theories that challenge taken-for-granted systems of knowledge and invite us to examine our assumptions about power, equity, and social justice.



- Indigenous theories expressed within systems and models of caring for children in a variety of ways based on unique worldviews, distinct languages, cultures, traditions, and practices.
- Developmental theories that view children as developing and learning in linear and universal stages over time.

This framework aims to support change by inviting educators to engage with theories and perspectives that are respectful of all **cultures**.

Bridging early years and primary years

The Early Learning Framework's expanded focus from early years to primary years means the vision, principles, rethinking of practice, and context are relevant to working with children (and their families) from birth to Grade 3. This framework puts forward an image of every child being capable and promotes **inclusive** pedagogies through discovery and **inquiry**, as well as through attending to place and history. In articulating this vision for children birth to eight years, this framework has the potential to create a continuum of care and learning with children and families through transitions between early care and learning programs, schools, and other services.

The Early Learning Framework's Living Inquiries and the B.C. Education Curriculum **Core Competencies** have shared philosophies that support educators in designing environments that are flexible, responsive, and relevant to their local community so that children and adults think and learn together.

The B.C. Education Curriculum Core Competencies:



Communications: The communication competency encompasses the set of abilities that students use to impart and exchange information, experiences and ideas, to explore the world around them, and to understand and effectively engage in the use of digital media.



Thinking: The thinking competency encompasses the knowledge, skills and processes we associate with intellectual development. It is through their competency as thinkers that students take subject-specific concepts and content and transform them into a new understanding. Thinking competence includes specific thinking skills as well as habits of mind, and metacognitive awareness.



Personal and Social: Personal and social competency is the set of abilities that relate to students' identity in the world, both as individuals and as members of their community and society. Personal and social competency encompasses the abilities students need to thrive as individuals, to understand and care about themselves and others, and to find and achieve their purposes in the world.

(B.C. Ministry of Education, 2018b).

The Early Learning Framework Living Inquiries:

- Well-being and belonging
- Engagement with others, materials, and the world
- Communication and literacies
- Identities, social responsibility, and diversity

Educating in British Columbia in the 21 st century

Educators work within the challenges, tensions, and possibilities of the 21st century. The realities of changing technologies, an environmental crisis, social and cultural **diversity**, and righting the wrongs of **colonialism** are the context within which children, educators, and families live.

Environment

British Columbians are faced with the challenges of an environmental crisis that includes climate change, species extinction, risks to our food and water supplies, and massive migrations. Scholars and **educators** are rethinking pedagogies and practices to respond to this crisis, and are considering the interdependencies of humans, non-humans, plants, creatures and non-living entities.

Common world pedagogies embrace the complexities of human/non-human relationships and seek to engage in dialogues that produce new ways of relating.

-expanding an idea

This framework is intended to be a careful, ethical, and attentive guide to be interwoven with the B.C. curriculum to inspire and invigorate educators working with children in Kindergarten to Grade 3, as well as educators working with young children.

Technology

Technology has changed the way we interact with each other and the ways knowledge and information can be accessed. Children live in this technology-rich environment as consumers, creators, and producers.

Social and cultural diversity

The Early Learning Framework supports the individual, social, cultural, and linguistic identities of children and families living in B.C. The province is home to people who come from many different parts of the world – some are new to B.C. while others have descended from those who have lived here for generations and millennia. These diverse peoples with their distinct histories contribute to the rich social fabric of this province.

Social and cultural **diversity** also characterize the nature of family life in B.C. In many families, parents are the primary caregivers while in others, grandparents, older siblings, and other relatives play equally significant roles. Children grow up in a variety of family and household formations: two-parent-led households, loneparent-led households, stepfamilies, adoptive families, multi-generational households, families headed by same-sex parents, multiple families, and foster families. Whether children receive early education and care in the home or the community, it is important that their experiences are connected to, and supportive of, their relationships with their families.

While all families have strengths, many families experience vulnerabilities. It is recognized that families may move in and out of vulnerability, and that vulnerabilities are not reflections of flaws in a person or family. Poverty, domestic violence, access to affordable housing or child care are complex issues that can have strong impacts on children's ability to engage in learning. Families of **children with diverse abilities** may face unique challenges that require additional support. Recognizing that most families, at some point, experience vulnerabilities helps to reduce the stigma of vulnerability.

Acknowledging and supporting the richness of these identities and diversities are essential elements of the framework in its role in **reconciliation** with Indigenous peoples, responsibility to the environment, and engagement with technological change.

Indigenous context in Canada¹

Understanding Indigenous historical and current political, economic, and social contexts is critical in the development of respectful relations with Indigenous people. Children who grow up in British Columbia are living within the context of changing Indigenous and non-Indigenous relations.

Demographics

Understanding the demographics of the Indigenous population can serve to support the creation of connections and partnerships among Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities to work together with children and families.

Indigenous children represent a fast-growing child demographic in the province, and students who self-identify as **Aboriginal** compose approximately 11% of British Columbia's public school population (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2018a). While Indigenous peoples amount to 6% of the total population, Indigenous children

¹

The BC Aboriginal Child Care Society (BCACCS) contributed this section.

are 10% of the child population (Government of Canada, 2018). These children live in a variety of settings, including urban, rural, remote, on-reserve, and off-reserve communities.

Of the Indigenous population in B.C., just under half are under age 25. They often move between cities and their traditional territories to remain connected both to their **cultures** and traditions and to educational and economic opportunities. There are profound and far-reaching adverse impacts of **colonization**. These adverse impacts are perhaps nowhere more acute than in the over-representation of Indigenous children in the child welfare system, as currently more than half of children in government care are Indigenous.

While Indigenous peoples have faced a long history of colonialism, the inherent rights of Indigenous children and their families as outlined in the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP, 2008) are recognized and upheld by federal and provincial governments. Considerable work is underway by all levels of government that seeks to protect and promote Indigenous **culture**, language, communities, leaders, and organizations.

Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada

The final report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (TRC, 2015a) published 94 calls to action, including a call on federal, provincial, territorial and Indigenous governments to develop culturally appropriate early childhood education programs for Indigenous children. Like the UNDRIP, the TRC report articulates the rights of Indigenous families and communities to retain and recover shared responsibility for the upbringing, education, and well-being of their children.

These two declarations clearly outline that much work is needed in the **decolonization** of Canadian society and its institutions.

Whether Indigenous or non-Indigenous, **educators** in all communities have an important role to play in responding to the TRC and UNDRIP by learning and educating others about Indigenous peoples' experiences of systemic marginalization and forced **assimilation**, and how we all have an obligation of redress for the damage done, and being done, to Indigenous communities.

"Reconciliation includes anyone with an open mind and an open heart who is willing to look into the future with a new way"

(Chief Dr. Robert Joseph, quoted in Reconciliationcanada.ca, 2019)



This [the problem of education in the wake of Canada's history of residential schooling] is not an Aboriginal problem. This is a Canadian problem. At the same time that Aboriginal people were being demeaned in the schools and their culture and language were being taken away and told that they were inferior, that they were pagans, heathens, and savages and that they were unworthy of being respected - that very same message was being given to the non-Aboriginal children in the public schools. As a result, many generations of non-Aboriginal Canadians have had their perceptions of Aboriginal people 'tainted'.

(Justice Murray Sinclair, quoted in the Vancouver Sun, May 2015 [as cited in Aboriginal Worldviews and Perspectives in the Classroom, 2015b, p. 6])

Diversity among Indigenous communities

Recognizing the diversity and richness of Indigenous communities throughout B.C. contributes to pedagogiesthat are local and meaningful. There are three distinct groups of Indigenous peoples in Canada, and B.C.: First Nations, Métis and Inuit.

"It's the most beautiful thing when you start drumming a song and all the little ones come gathering around. She just started to drum. And all the children came and sat at her feet. And then the parents noticed, and they came too and all gathered around. An Honour Song: to honour them for showing up every day. The light that it brought to their eyes, to be recognized! If you show up, it is for yourself. Our songs have a gift that comes to our people."

(Participant, as cited in B.C. Aboriginal Child Care Society, 2017, p. 32).

First Nations

 There are 203 First Nations across eight regions that are represented by the Assembly of First Nations of B.C. These nations constitute an unparalleled linguistic and cultural diversity in the world. Canada is home to approximately 60 First Nations languages spanning 10 separate and distinct language families. B.C. is home to approximately 34 First Nations languages spanning seven language families, and 60% of Canada's First Nations languages are in British Columbia. Virtually all First Nations languages are endangered, but many are in processes of active revitalization.



British Columbia Early Learning Framework



 Due to historical impacts of colonization, First Nations people have faced economic hardship and poverty. In early learning, First Nations children and families have inherent rights including the the right to establish and control their educational systems and institutions as affirmed in the UNDRIP, and as a fundamental aspect of their inherent right of self-government. These rights are recognized by Canada and British Columbia (pursuant to section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982). Recognition of First Nations rights leads to reconciliation, where First Nations' own legal and social systems may again come to enrich and sustain them.



Métis¹

Miyo-pimatisiwin translates (approximately) into English as 'living well,' the 'good life,' or as 'being alive well.' But these English phrases are impoverished translations of the concept. While miyo-pimatisiwin certainly addresses notions of well-being and the good life, it does so by situating us, as Métis people, in a network of relationships.

Wichētowin

As with miyo-pimatisiwin, Métis inherit the term wichētowin from our Cree cousins. Wichētowin can be translated, simply, as 'fellowship.' However, this simple translation misses the ethical nuances of the concept. As a value, wichētowin means fellowship, community, and kinship based on the principle of caring for one another. In this sense it is intimately connected to the concept of miyo-pimatisiwin. We care for one another and in doing so help one another so that we are all able to be 'alive well.'

(Métis Nation British Columbia, 2018, p. 5)



¹

Metis nation BC (MNBC) contributed this section.

The "children of the fur trade," "flower beadwork people," "one-and-a-half peoples," "Otipemiiwak," "half-breeds," "lii Michif," and "Bois-Brûlés" are only some of the names used to describe the Métis. Métis communities have a rich history of blended cultures and unique identities. The historic Métis emerged as a distinct people and nation on the plains of western North America during the late 1700s. As the fur trade expanded westward, many of the employees, who were of European origin, found it both necessary and beneficial to establish familial relationships with First Nations women. These relationships resulted in children of mixed European and Indigenous ancestry.

• Despite their economic interest in delaying largescale agricultural settlement, the fur trade companies eventually adopted a policy of discouraging unions between employees and First Nations. As a result, mixed Indigenous people married other mixed Indigenous people and developed a culture that was neither European nor First Nations, but rather a unique fusion of the two cultures: the Métis Nation was born.



- Métis Nation British Columbia (MNBC) was first incorporated in 1996 as the Métis Provincial Council of British Columbia. In 2003 the Métis leadership ratified the Métis Nation British Columbia Constitution, thereby establishing a new Métis Nation governing structure. Since 2003, the MNBC leadership has implemented a number of institutions of governance such as the senate, Métis Nation Governing Assembly, Métis Youth British Columbia, Métis Women British Columbia, Métis Veterans British Columbia, and the British Columbia Métis Assembly of Natural Resources as well as the provincial Métis identification registry.
- As the democratically elected political representative and governing organization for nearly 90,000 self-identifying Métis, nearly 17,000 of whom are registered Métis citizens in British Columbia, the MNBC represents the political, legal, social, and economic interests of Métis people in B.C. to local, provincial, and federal levels of governments, funding agencies, and other related bodies. MNBC undertakes advocacy, coordination, and policy-making roles on behalf of Métis people in B.C. on matters related to provincial and federal programs and services. MNBC acts to protect and preserve Métis history, promote and develop Métis culture, ensure Métis rights are understood and protected, and helps coordinate and facilitate local activities of Métis communities.

(Ministry of Youth, Métis Nation British Columbia, 2018).
Inuit

"A central idea of Inuit education is to cause (or cause to increase) thought: isummaksaiyuq" (Briggs, 1998). In order to prepare children to become solid thinkers, equipped to handle all the rigours and challenges of the world, a pedagogy where ethical and moral questioning is continually being used, and where direct answers are seldom supplied is the basis for inunnguiniq. It is thought that in this way children will develop the areas of qanuqtuurunnarniq (being resourceful to seek solutions) and iqqaqqaukkaringniq (being innovative and creative in solution seeking).

(National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health, 2012, p.3).



Of the 50,480 Inuit living in Canada, 78% live in Inuit Nunangat (Inuit Homeland). There are four geographic regions that make up Inuit Nunangat: the Inuvialuit Settlement Region of the Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Nunavik in northern Quebec, and Nunatsiavut in Newfoundland and Labrador (Statistics Canada, 2016). The Inuit population is the smallest among Indigenous groups in B.C. representing 0.6% of B.C.'s Indigenous population. Inuit are among Canada's youngest citizens, with a median age of 23 (National Committee on Inuit Education, 2011, p. 67).



- Roughly 60% of Inuit report an ability to conduct a conversation in Inuktut (the Inuit language), and people harvest country foods such as seal, narwhal, and caribou to feed their families and communities. However, statistics and research paint a distressing picture of Inuit society, in which too many people are struggling with violence and trauma. These challenges exist against the historical backdrop of Canada's colonization of Inuit Nunangat, in which federal government policy directed the institutions and systems that have destabilized Inuit society by undermining their ability to be self-reliant (Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, 2018).
- The 2011 National Strategy on Inuit Education called for a bilingual education system founded on Inuit societal values, worldview, and beliefs. Key to this vision is that Inuit



education is delivered by Inuit educators through quality bilingual programs based on Inuit-centred curriculum. The education system should inspire young Inuit to stay in school longer and advance the process of restoring confidence lost during the residential school experience.

Legislation, frameworks, and human rights agreements

This framework works within the realities of legislation, human rights agreements, and other early care and learning frameworks, curriculum, and competencies. These works are vital to maintaining and strengthening the infrastructure that supports exemplary early learning and child care experiences in B.C. At the same time, this framework supports a vision of early learning that is localized and reflects B.C.'s diverse communities through its principles and recommended practices.

Most young children in B.C. experience early learning both in their homes and in other settings. B.C. sets minimum standards so that certain settings employ qualified educators, and that the physical environment promotes children's health, safety, and well-being. The *Community Care and Assisted Living Act* and the Child Care Licensing Regulation define required child/staff ratios, group size, health and safety measures, and early childhood educator training requirements for various licensed child care settings, including group child care, family child care, preschool, and childminding.

Early care and learning programs build a solid foundation and have a role to play in the Kindergarten to Grade 12 education system. Specific roles and responsibilities are set out in the School Act, Independent School Act, Teachers Act, First Nations Education Act and their accompanying regulations.



United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (2008)

The United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) states that Indigenous peoples have the right to all levels and forms of education without discrimination. Further, it states that Indigenous peoples have the right to establish and control their educational systems and institutions and provide education in their own languages, in a manner appropriate to their cultural methods of teaching and learning. States are also expected to take measures to ensure that Indigenous peoples have access to such an education, including those living outside their community, when possible. This right to education is broad and should include education through traditional methods of teaching and learning, and the right to integrate their own perspectives, cultures, beliefs, values, and languages in mainstream education systems and institutions. Of importance is section 14.2, which states that Indigenous children and youth should be free from discrimination in all levels of education.

UNDRIP states that Indigenous peoples have the right to access education in their own culture and that it should be provided in their own languages and traditions. The declaration further states the right of Indigenous peoples to pursue self-determination and Indigenous autonomy and self-government in which systems of early learning are distinct Indigenous social and cultural institutions. As such, Indigenous early learning is a part of Indigenous cultural revitalization that will direct Indigenous control of educational systems and institutions.

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)

In 1991, Canada ratified the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. It affirms the inherent dignity and the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family, including children, as the necessary foundation for freedom, justice, and peace in the world. The convention recognizes children as citizens with the right to reach their fullest potential, to be treated with dignity and respect, to be protected from harm, to exercise a voice, to engage in play and recreational activities, and to participate freely in cultural life and the arts. This convention can help adults ensure these rights are upheld.



In 2002, Canada participated in the United Nations General Assembly Special Session on Children. This meeting led to the development of A World Fit for Children declaration and plan of action to improve the situation of children around the world. Based on this declaration, Canada has developed A Canada Fit for Children, a national plan of action that identifies key issues affecting children and opportunities to improve their lives. One of the four central themes of Canada's action plan is promoting education and learning.



CMEC Early Learning and Development Framework, Canadian Council of Ministers of Education (2014)

The purpose of the Canadian Council of Ministers of Education (CMEC) framework is to present a pan-Canadian vision for early learning, to foster continuity across jurisdictions and across all settings that provide education and care for children from birth to eight years of age, including preschool and formal schooling environments. Provinces and territories describe children as unique, active learners, creative, curious, natural explorers, playful, competent, expressive, knowledgeable, joyful, capable of complex thinking, and rich in potential as contributors to society. Articulating a shared understanding of children and how they learn and taking up this understanding to shape systems, policies, curriculum, and practice - is critical to ensuring continuity and quality across all early learning settings and at all levels of the system.

Multilateral Early Learning and Child Care Framework (ELCC), Government of Canada, (2017)

This 10-year framework sets the foundation for federal, provincial, and territorial ministers most responsible for early learning and child care to work toward a shared long-term vision where all children experience quality early learning and child care that supports them to reach their full potential. The Government of Canada and the Government of British Columbia have committed to work together to further develop child care. The Canada-BC ELCC agreement objectives include: enhancing the accessibility of child care options by increasing the number of spaces; increasing the affordability of child care, beginning with Infant/Toddler care; enhancing the quality of licensed child care programs by supporting the training and professional development of early childhood educators; and enhancing equity through targeted investment in underserved communities.



Indigenous Early Learning and Child Care Framework (2018)

Indigenous peoples have "an inherent and sacred" responsibility for their children and families. The Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada's Principles of Reconciliation refer to the UNDRIP as the "framework for reconciliation ... at all levels and across all sectors of Canadian society" (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015b, p. 3). Since 2016, early learning and child care for Indigenous children and families subject to UNDRIP rights has seen the co-development for nation-tonation governance of a National Indigenous Early Learning and Child Care framework. This framework identifies principles from a nationwide Indigenous engagement process that was carried out in 2017 and outlines transformative actions at structural, systems, program, and services levels with respect to governance and service delivery, quality programs and services, funding approaches, research, and capacity development.

Métis Early Learning and Child Care Framework (2019)

In March 2019, the Government of Canada and the Métis Nation entered a 10-year Métis Nation Early Learning and Child Care Accord with the goal of implementing the Métis Nation Early Learning and Child Care (ELCC) Framework. The Métis Nation, as represented in British Columbia by Métis Nation British Columbia, and the Government of Canada recognize the significant need for culturallyappropriate and high-quality ELCC programs and services for Métis children and families. A distinct Métis Nation ELCC Framework recognizes the importance of a distinctions-based approach in ensuring that the rights, interests and circumstances of the Métis Nation are acknowledged, affirmed and implemented.

The BC First Nations Early Childhood Development Framework (2011)

The BC First Nations Early Childhood Development Framework was developed by the First Nations Early Childhood Development Council. It was first published in recognition of the urgent need to support First Nations in their efforts to drive their own traditionally and culturally rich systems of early childhood development. The mission, values, and beliefs described in the framework are grounded in the founding principles of a system that values high-quality care and a child-centred approach. The three major goals that the BC First Nations Early Childhood Development Framework describe are:

- Increased availability, accessibility, and participation in early childhood development programs.
- 2. Enhanced quality of early childhood development programs.
- 3. Improved integration and collaboration at all levels.



Child Care Sector Occupational Competencies, B.C. Ministry of Children and Family Development (2004)

The Child Care Sector Occupational Competencies set out the knowledge, skills, and abilities that early childhood educators must demonstrate to be certified in B.C.

B.C. Curriculum and Competencies, B.C. Ministry of Education (2018b)

The B.C. Education Curriculum has been revised to provide greater flexibility for educators to allow space and time for students to explore their passions and interests, to develop their skills, and to extend Indigenous perspectives throughout the entire learning journey.

Understanding and applying knowledge are at the centre of the curriculum, as opposed to the memorizing and recalling facts, which was central to much of education around the globe for many decades. Core Competencies are at the centre of the curriculum redesign and come into play when students are engaged in "doing" and thinking in any area of learning. The Early Learning Framework and the B.C. curriculum have a shared philosophy and provide a continuum of care and learning for children birth to eight years (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2015a).

From Kindergarten to graduation, students will experience Indigenous perspectives and knowledge as part of what they are learning to ensure that the voices of First Nations people are heard in all aspects of the education system. British Columbia's education transformation incorporates the Indigenous voice and perspective by including Indigenous expertise at all levels, ensuring that this content is a part of the learning journey for all students.





Building professionalism of educators

In B.C., the government's blueprint for an accessible, affordable, and high-quality early care and learning system signals a shift toward creating systemic structures that support children, families, and educators. The implementation of full-day Kindergarten and programs such as StrongStart B.C. and Changing Results for Young Children has begun to build some connections between school-based programs and communitybased early childhood programs and educators. This framework was developed to further dialogue locally, regionally, and provincially about policy, funding, and education in creating a system in which all educators are supported for their work and through ongoing collaborative professional development.



Early Learning Framework Overview

Vision: respectfully living and learning together

childhood spaces where children, adults, ideas and materials come together, where knowledge is constructed about learning and living in ways that are local, inclusive, ethical, and democratic. This framework carries the hope of inspiring and supporting the creation of rich, joyful, early





First Nations Education Steering Committee, 2012

and only shared with permission and/or in certain situations.

Learning is holistic.

•



Section Two



Rethinking Learning and Practice





R ethinking learning and practice is central to the vision of this framework. This section describes the following practices (pedagogies) which are intended to enhance learning and be woven into all other sections, not in linear ways but in multiple and unexpected ways. The image of a fern with its underground **rhizomes** can be useful in thinking of pedagogies that are dynamic and exploratory, where new possibilities can emerge for transforming and re-creating early learning pedagogies.



pedagogy of listening_

Pedagogy of listening is an approach to practice that means listening to the thousand languages, symbols, and codes we use to express ourselves and communicate.



_critical_reflection_

Critical reflection involves thinking carefully about fundamental beliefs that shape our senses of self and others and how we view the world.

collaborative dialogue

Collaborative dialogue means inviting comments, questions, and interpretations from children, families, colleagues, and community members to elicit multiple perspectives.



pedagogical narration

Pedagogical narration is the process of noticing and collecting moments from daily practice and sharing these with colleagues, children, and families.



What Is a Pedagogy of Listening?



Central to the vision of this framework is an approach to practice called a **pedagogy of listening**. Rinaldi (2001, p. 80) describes this as:

"Listening to the hundred, the thousand languages, symbols, and codes we use to express ourselves and communicate, and with which life expresses itself and communicates to those who know how to listen.

Listening as welcoming and being open to differences, recognizing the value of the other's point of view and interpretation.

Listening as an active verb that involves interpretation, giving meaning to the message and value to those who offer it.

Listening that does not produce answers but formulates questions; listening that is generated by doubt, by uncertainty, which is not insecurity but, on the contrary, the security that every truth is only such if we are aware of its limits and its possible falsification.

-expanding an idea

Listening or attending to the other person is not always comfortable. The words "attend," and "tension" share a common root, **tendere**, which means "to stretch." To really attend to another or to pay attention to another person, we must stretch ourselves; we must really strain to listen, to see, to feel – it is not a casual process.

Listening as sensitivity to the patterns that connect, to that which connects us to others; abandoning ourselves to the conviction that our understanding and our own being are but small parts of a broader, integrated knowledge that holds the universe together."

Educators listen to the incredible range of children's expression, and to what children bring forward that may never have been heard before. Educators notice gesture, silence, movement, gaze, and stillness, as well as the materials, the objects, light, and sound, and how these are all interrelated, each affecting the other as they circulate within a space and a time. In this sense, listening is letting go of what we thought we knew to open ourselves to something new.



What Is Critical Reflection?



Critical reflection means that there are always far more questions than there are answers. (MacNaughton, 2005, p. 15)

Critical reflection involves thinking carefully and methodically about fundamental beliefs, with the goal of better understanding the various cultural, social, material, and historical forces that shape our sense of self and others and how we view the world. Critical reflection is both an individual and collective process that includes dialogue with colleagues as well as with the broader community.

The Early Learning Framework invites critical reflection on taken-for-granted understandings of early childhood and primary education. Images of children and understandings about learning and education are not universal, but vary in different histories and in response to people's experiences, beliefs, and aspirations. With that in mind, educators need to challenge accepted mainstream knowledge to explore different understandings and **worldviews**. This can be done through critical reflection.

Through critical reflection you can:

- Explore where ideas about "how the world works" have come from, who has generated these ideas, who benefits from these ideas, and who they have excluded or neglected.
- Seek many perspectives on "truths" about teaching and learning and turn the notion of truth itself toward a process of collective research.
- Understand that the world has histories of marginalizing and silencing certain peoples.
- Reconstruct and reinvent what educators can do, who they can be, and open different ways of thinking.
- Uncover potential biases, such as the racism of low expectations, and consider how this may affect pedagogical practice.
- Celebrate and honour diversity in pedagogical practices.

I am curious about why I notice what I notice about how the children and materials relate with each other, joining and moving together in the landscape of the StrongStart room. What thinking, frameworks, or pedagogies drive what I choose to photograph? (Wanamaker, 2014, p. 1)



expanding an idea

It is important for all educators to be aware that within the B.C. public education system, racism has been demonstrated to take the form of educators having low expectations for Indigenous students based on preconceptions or biases stemming from social attitudes. This is the concept of the racism of low expectations, which is a form of systemic racism that was identified in the B.C. Auditor General's (2015) report. This may require educators to have difficult and perhaps uncomfortable conversations, but these conversations also provide the opportunity to ensure that all children are given the best possible chance to fulfill their highest potential.

What is Collaborative Dialogue?



Collaborative dialogue means inviting comments, questions, and interpretations from children, families, colleagues, and community members to elicit multiple perspectives. This process opens avenues for discussion not to find answers but to explore the different ways of thinking about **pedagogy**, and to invite reflection on assumptions, values, and unquestioned

understandings. Ongoing collaborative dialogue can enrich and deepen perspectives, and can challenge educators to consider new ways of seeing, thinking, and practising.





What is Pedagogical Narration?



Pedagogical narration is the process of noticing and collecting moments from daily practice and sharing these with colleagues, children, and families to make children's learning processes and inquiries as well as educators' **pedagogical choices** visible and open to interpretation and reflection.

Keeping learning alive

Pedagogical narrations challenge **educators** to let go of predetermined outcomes and to remain curious, open, inventive, and respectful of children's thinking. The intention is not to provide answers or a predictable goal for children's learning but to connect with the living inquiries and keep the learning process "alive." The educator's role is to be actively engaged in **co-constructing knowledge** with children in a learning collective that includes family and community. In this way, educators create space for new ideas to flourish.

Making learning and practice visible

Pedagogical narration is much more than a tool for recording and planning pedagogical choices. The process of discussing pedagogical narrations makes children's learning visible and brings forth many different interpretations, voices, and possibilities. Engaging in this process can show the complexity of practice and open ways to see and think differently. By working with pedagogical narrations, adults can examine the values and understanding they hold about children, learning, Simply put, pedagogical narration may be thought of in this way:

Listen deeply Be curious Embrace wonder Share the story and education, their potential biases and expectations of children and families, as well as what knowledge is privileged and what knowledge is **marginalized** or silenced.



"My displaying of pedagogical narrations, along with my desire to make my choices in practice more visible, is not done with the intention of making others think the same way I do, but rather 'for stirring the wind of thought' (Berger, 2015) within us, expanding our perspectives and generating ongoing, critical dialogue and debate about important issues such as race, class, gender, and age" (Wanamaker, 2017, p. 47).

Leading and advocating

Pedagogical narration is also important for advocacy and educational leadership. When pedagogical narration is brought into the public sphere and the competencies, capabilities, and relationships of children (and adults) are made visible, children are brought out of anonymity. Children become the focus of a dialogue in which their voice is listened to and their role is respected. At the same time, pedagogical narrations can highlight the role of **educators** as researchers and critical thinkers, rather than caretakers or technicians who follow set procedures. By making the complexities of practice and the intentional work of educators visible, people see early learning settings as sites of vibrant, critically reflective, and **democratic practice**. Educators who bring pedagogical narration into the public sphere are contributing to broadening the dialogue of childhood, learning, and education by opening spaces for multiple perspectives and multiple ways of doing and being. By engaging the community in these conversations, educators resist a "one-size-fits-all" model of early learning and open possibilities for generating **localized pedagogies** that respond to the diverse historical and cultural contexts of B.C. communities.

The process of pedagogical narration

The following describes the components of pedagogical narration; however, it is important to remember that there is no single way to engage with this process. Each person or group must experiment to find what works for them. Working with pedagogical narration is not predictable or linear; instead it is a cyclical process that has stops and starts, with moments of clarity and moments of uncertainty. Be patient. It takes time and practice to become used to noticing, recording, reflecting, and dialoguing about moments. Individuals and groups can start from where they are and take small steps.



Figure 1 provides an overview of the process of pedagogical narration.



definition

Pedagogical choices:

everything educators choose to do with children, with the environment, materials, traditions, and routines, is a pedagogical choice. This framework is designed to provoke educators to examine why particular choices are made, and to support their efforts to be attentive and intentional in the choices they make.

-expanding an idea

The 2008 British Columbia Early Learning Framework used the term pedagogical narration to describe a critically reflective process. In adopting a "made in B.C. term," the framework can help to build common language. **Educators** use other terms such as "learning stories," "living stories," "making learning visible," "documentation," or another term meaningful within their community, to highlight the connections with emergent or responsive curriculum and to engage in critically reflective practice.



Collect traces of practice



Collect traces of moments with children. In daily life with children, there are a multitude of moments in which ideas, objects, materials, adults, other children, other species and the environment engage with each other.

Choose a moment that draws interest. It may be a moment that surprises, intrigues, is uncomfortable, or brings tension.

Work with an **inquiry** question that guides the focus of noticing and recording. It is not about capturing an outcome or assessing an individual child.

Traces make visible a moment of practice and bring attention to learning, thinking, the connections and relationships.

Traces of practice in pedagogical narrations can take the form of:

- Materials created by the children, such as drawings, paintings, constructions
- Written field notes
- Digital audio-recordings
- Photographs
- Video clips

definition

Traces:

artifacts such as materials created by children, notes of text, photos, audio, video, journals or digital data that are collected for pedagogical narrations. **IMPORTANT:** Photographs, video and audio recordings, and notes about children are all sources of information that must be treated carefully. Ensure that families know how this information is used in the program for pedagogical narrations, as well as how the information is stored. Respect families' wishes if they do not grant permission for their child to be photographed or recorded.

Reflect on the traces

Reflect on the **traces** of practice that you have collected. Write thoughts about this moment. Ask yourself, Why did I record this moment? What interests me about it? What ideas or theories might the children (and/or educators or others) be thinking, learning, or experimenting with? Think about the ideas that have been presented in the framework about **critical reflection** and a **pedagogy of listening**. In In Figure 1, on page 53, critical reflection and a pedagogy of listening are drawn at the centre of the **pedagogical narration** process and also connect to all of the other process elements. Educators cycle through this element regularly throughout the pedagogical narration process. The critically reflective questions in this framework (pages 69 – 90) are useful to help engage in reflection.

-expanding an idea

Noticing and interpreting what children do and why they do it probes the connection between thinking and questioning and shows or makes visible the way children are making meaning of their learning or of their interaction with the world. As one interprets and critically reflects on a moment/observation, intriguing questions and insight can be gained without requiring absolute certainty about the situation.







Make the traces visible



Share the **traces** of practice and the emerging **pedagogical narration** with others, such as the children and families of the program, as well as colleagues. Sharing this with others makes the moments visible or public.

Pedagogical narration can take many forms and can be shared in myriad ways; however, they are never complete. Templates (digital or written) offer formats for pedagogical narration, but can limit opportunities for ongoing reflection and dialogue about the complexities of children's and educators' learning and thinking.

Bulletin boards that simply display images of children are not pedagogical narrations. Documentation



of practice becomes pedagogical narration only when brought to life with questions, thoughts, and the interpretations of different people. Pedagogical narration is not intended to be a record of what happened; rather, it is a lively invitation to share, discuss, challenge, debate, and rework pedagogical understandings and practice.

Traces of practice and your (emerging) pedagogical narrations can be made public by:

- Posting on the wall, on a bulletin board, or in the entryway.
- In newsletters to parents, families, educators, the community textually, or visually.
- Sending text, audio recordings or digital video to families through email.
- Sharing digitally through social media (some educators/programs use Twitter, Instagram, Facebook, and/or online blogs to share documentation and reflections). Reminder: use of online technologies requires parent or guardian consent and must be password protected for privacy.
- Printing or projecting on a screen or wall at discussion meetings for families, colleagues (for example, a team meeting, a **community of practice** with a group of colleagues), and children in the program.
- Posting on sandwich boards placed inside or outside the centre or school.

Consider the diverse abilities in the community and explore multiple ways of sharing pedagogical narrations such as by Braille, with pictures and symbols, or using closed captioning, voice-over, or translations.



Invite collaborative dialogue



Invite comments, questions, and interpretations from children, families, colleagues, or community members. Try to elicit ideas about the children's thinking and learning that invite multiple perspectives. What theories are the children thinking with? What theories are adults thinking with? Ask about and discuss assumptions, values, and unquestioned understandings. Where do these come from? Whom and what do they serve or not serve?

With children: Draw from ideas and thoughts from pedagogical narrations and continue in conversation with children. This is what is meant by "co-constructing knowledge" with children. Remembering the event or moment and retelling it and wondering more about it engages children and extends their thinking.

With colleagues: With ongoing reflection of pedagogical narrations, dialogue with colleagues becomes richer and deeper, making both children's and educators thinking and learning visible. Through documenting what educators notice, they may begin to plan differently and think differently about what might be possible. It is also important to consider what is not being documented, and to critically reflect on what motivates **pedagogical choices**. Doing this regularly and collaboratively allows for ongoing exchange of ideas, invites multiple ways of seeing, can uncover biases, facilitates open conversation on biases, and can provide the support needed to shift practices that can lead to meaningful transformations.

-expanding an idea

Educators are not imposing their ideas on the children, but truly recognizing the children and their efforts. In a way, it is like viewing a child through new eyes. It is challenging to really listen and get to know a child anew and to resist previous ideas of who that child is. Through carefully and intentionally noticing children and what they do, educators have an opportunity to wonder at what they are seeing and hearing. These discussions are not always easy, and tensions and discomfort may arise. Building relationships of trust and creating a **culture** where dialogue is ongoing takes time and requires a willingness to listen and to be open to uncertainty. The goal is not always to come to agreement, but to accept dissensus (not always agreeing) as a way of generating new thinking and seeing.



With families and communities: Making traces visible to families creates an opportunity to ask for their input and reflection. Share with families that what they have to say is important to further understand what children are learning and experiencing. Consider asking families:

- What do you think your child is doing/learning in this moment?
- Can you help me deepen my understanding of what is happening in this moment?
- Is there anything you could add to this story (background information, personal experiences, insights into personality)?
- How do you see this moment in relation to your image of the child?
- What prior knowledge does your child bring to this moment?
- What does knowledge mean to you? What knowledge is important to you?

Find opportunities to make **traces** visible in the community. Think about partnerships with galleries, community centres, schools, colleges or universities, or other organizations where the public could engage with pedagogical narrations.

Link to the Early Learning Framework



Link **critical reflection** and the ongoing **collaborative dialogues** to the Early Learning Framework. Which living inquiries (pages 66 – 90) do the traces relate to? Are there particular critically reflective questions (pages 69 – 90) that connect to or would support individual reflection and collaborative dialogue with others?

Make Pedagogical Choices



Pedagogical choices include the plans, materials, and provocations that educators choose in their daily practice with children. Through the process of engaging with a

pedagogical narration, educators can think about why particular choices are made and can **experiment** with ideas. Choices and experimentations will likely lead to further documentation, reflection, continued collaborative dialogue, new links to the Early Learning Framework and theory, and new and more pedagogical choices in practice. Together educators and children can invent new ideas or try different materials or processes, all the while remaining open to other possibilities. In this way pedagogical narration can support emergent curriculum.

-expanding an idea

Thinking with multiple perspectives: Pedagogical narration offers the opportunity to make the complex thinking of children and educators visible and to place this thinking alongside thinkers in other disciplines, such as (but not limited to) artists, scientists, philosophers, musicians, anthropologists, sociologists, environmental scientists, technicians, tradespeople, and educators. For example, discussing a child's block construction with an engineer opens perspectives educators may not have considered.





Section Three



Living and Learning Together



his section, Living and Learning Together, outlines the living inquiries, pathways for engaging with living inquiries and critically reflective questions. These new terms reflect learning processes that are rhizomatic, unpredictable, and dynamic.

Living Inquiries

Living inquiries" (known as "areas of learning" in the B.C. Ministry of Education [2008] framework) is used to describe the processes of thinking and learning that happen as children, educators, materials, and ideas interconnect. The term "living" suggests that these processes are ongoing and always evolving. "Inquire" means to pay attention in multiple ways – to study, explore, experiment, and ask questions.

Critically Reflective Questions

For each of the pathways, there is a series of critically reflective questions that can provoke thinking and invite discussion of meanings and perspectives of pedagogy and practice.

Pathways

For each of the living inquiries, there is a subsection called "pathways" (formerly called "learning goals" [B.C. Ministry of Education, 2008]) that will help educators engage with the living inquiries. The term "pathways" evokes a sense of movement that is not linear. The living inquiries, pathways, and reflective questions, offer provocations to think about children, learning, and practising. As educators pay attention to moments, encounters, ideas, materials, and people, they can "think with" the living inquiries, pathways, and reflective questions to focus on their fundamental beliefs and understandings of childhood, education, and **pedagogy**.

As they move together through time and encounter one another, these paths interweave to form an immense and continually evolving tapestry. (Ingold, 2011, p. 9)





This framework describes four living inquiries:

- Well-being and belonging
- Engagement with others, materials, and the world
- Communication and literacies
- Identities, social responsibility, and diversity

Learning is not an individual act but happens in relationship with people, materials, and place. All aspects of children's learning and growing are interconnected and overlapping.

Recognizing Indigenous knowledge, and respectfully seeking collaborative partnerships with Elders and other knowledge holders in the community, enhances the learning in each of the living inquiries.

There are no pre-set ways to engage with the four living inquiries; instead, **pedagogy** should be grounded in the place, land, families, histories, and **cultures** of local communities.

The living inquiries are closely linked to the B.C. curriculum and competencies and reflect shared philosophical understandings.



Living inquiries are rooted in the belief that children learn by doing when they are engaged in projects and inquiries that extend their interests.

Table 1 summarizes the living inquiries and pathways.

"The path is made by walking..." (Machado, 2004, p. 281)

Table 1: Table of Living Inquiries and Pathways

Living Inquiries				
	Well-being and belonging	Engagement with others, materials, and the world	Communication and literacies	Identities, social responsibility, and diversity
 Definition What is it? Why is it important? 	Nurturing a sense of well-being and belonging supports children as they learn about and investigate the world around them.	Children construct meaning as they engage with materials, other children and adults, the environment, the community, and the world.	Children use multiple modes of expressive languages to communicate ideas, participate in relationships, and make meaning in their homes and communities.	A positive personal and cultural identity is the awareness, understanding, and appreciation of all the facets that contribute to a healthy sense of oneself.
Pathways	Joy in relationships with people, place, materials and ideas Culture and worldviews Indigenous voices and perspectives Diversity and difference Family composition and gender orientation Safety and respect Nourishment, sleep, and physical activity Emotions, thoughts, and views Every child is a gift Interests and inquiries	Knowledge and theories Spaces, objects, and materials Reconnection to land, place Time for Engagement Local community connections	Multiple modes of communication Culture, family, traditions, and knowledge Language and communication Vocabulary, symbols, and written language Sound and word play Technology	Family origins, cultural background, place of origin, allegiance and affiliation, citizenship, and other identities Democratic practices Individual differences Social responsibility and justice Reconciliation with Indigenous peoples Interrelationship of humans and their common worlds



Well-Being And Belonging

Nurturing a sense of well-being and belonging supports children as they learn about and investigate the world around them. This sense is fostered through reciprocal relationships with people and places where each child is valued both as a gift and for their gifts – a feeling of being grounded in their immediate environment, their communities, their **culture**, and the wider world. Educators create environments in which every child feels confident to achieve to their highest potential, and where differences are recognized and celebrated. Each child is valued for their contributions and for the knowledge they can share.

By developing responsive relationships with adults and peers, each child feels a sense of well-being and can contribute to the well-being of their family, community, and society. This confidence is essential for children as they explore their capacities as family members, friends, thinkers, citizens, and discover their connections to the natural environment.

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging

To inspire a sense of well-being and belonging, adults design environments and engage in pedagogies considering these pathways:

- Joy in relationships with people, place, materials, and ideas Children and **educators** are open to joy and wonder.
- Culture and worldviews

All children's cultures are welcomed, valued, and woven into programs in ways that are transformative.

Indigenous voices and perspectives

Educators consider Indigenous resources and begin conversations with colleagues, families, and children about Canada's history of colonialism.

- Diversity and difference Each child and each family is included, welcomed, and celebrated.
- Family composition and gender orientation Educators resist perpetuating gender stereotypes; children can play with or transgress gender norms.
- Safety and respect Children are listened to and their identities and abilities are respected.
- Nourishment, sleep, and physical activity
 Children have control of their bodies and contribute to determining routines and schedules.
- Emotions, thoughts, and views Children's thoughts, emotions, and views are listened to and respected.
- Every child is a gift Every child can contribute their gifts in relationship with adults and other children.
- Interests and inquiries Children can engage with their own ideas, theories, and inquiries in ways that are meaningful to them.



Putting Critical Reflection to Work: Reflective Questions for Well-Being and Belonging

This section offers directions and ideas for furthering thinking about practice in relation to the living inquiry Well-Being and Belonging and each of its pathways. Considering these pathways and questions individually and with colleagues, families, children, and others invites discussion of meanings and perspectives in a spirit of wonder, justice, and research.

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging			
Pathways	Critically reflective questions		
Joy in relationships with people, places, materials, and ideas	 Moss suggests that childhood spaces can give "constant rise to wonder and surprise, magic moments and goose bumps, and a source of hope and renewed belief in the world" (Moss, 2013, p. 82). What does this mean to me? Could I use this quote as an invitation for dialogue with colleagues? What brings me joy in my work? Can I create ways to extend and build on this joy? Children often find joy in their relationships with materials, people, and ideas. How might I provide opportunities to extend or build on these joyful encounters? Do materials, spaces or rituals/routines invite joyful engagement? What materials, spaces or rituals/routines seem to inhibit joyful engagement? What does it mean to be in reciprocal relationships with children, families, and colleagues? 		

Pathways	Critically reflective questions		
Culture and worldviews	How are children's cultures welcomed, valued, and woven into my setting in ways that are transformative?		
	How do policies, procedures, and administrative practices honour and strengthen connections to the diverse cultural communities in my region (including deaf culture, diverse ability culture)?		
	In what ways are community members invited and welcomed into my program to enhance cross-generational, cultural, and relational learning?		
	Consider styles and languages of communication including gesture, eye contact, expression of feelings, independence, and assertiveness.		
	 How do these vary among different cultural groups? 		
	 How might I learn more about the cultural practices and histories of the diverse communities in my region? 		
Indigenous voices and perspectives How might I bring ideas and concepts I have learned through Indigenous resources into my program?			
	How might my biases and perceptions impact my work?		
	How can I ensure that I have high expectations for Indigenous children while accommodating, recognizing, and celebrating differences?		
	How might I begin conversations with colleagues, families, and children about Canada's history of colonialism?		
	 About Indigenous peoples' experience of systemic marginalization and forced assimilation? 		
	 About the importance of redress for historical damage done to Indigenous peoples and their communities? 		
	How might I respectfully ask Elders for guidance on cultural protocols, and then share them with staff, parents, and children?		
	What can I do to ensure that the diversity of Indigenous cultures are recognized and reflected in my program?		

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging
Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging	
Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Diversity and difference	How do I include and celebrate the diversity of each child and each family in my program?
	How do parents and families contribute to my program?
	How do I ensure parents/families, Elders, people of all cultures, languages, and spiritual knowledge keepers feel welcome in my program?
	Consider traditions, rituals, or practices that are taken for granted in my program. Which of these may not be inclusive ?
	Are children given the opportunity to discuss issues of racism or privilege?
	How can my practice be anti-racist or anti-biased?
	How can I give children the opportunity to discuss social justice? Equity and equality?
	How is behaviour a form of communication?
	What do the responses of educators communicate in turn?
	What are differing worldviews of diversity and inclusion?
	 How can I or my program express views on inclusion?



Pathways for Engaging with Weil-Being and Belonging		
Pathways	Critically reflective questions	
Family composition and gender orientation	What books, posters, or other materials in my centre perpetrate gender stereotypes? Family stereotypes?	
ULAUS	Do children have opportunities to experiment with transgressing gender stereotypes?	
M/72/73	What is the story of how I came to understand gender?	
	What are my assumptions about girls and boys? How might I share the stories of my understandings with others, with children?	
	How might I pay attention to responses as children play with or transgress gender norms and share new ideas with colleagues and with children?	
	What are my assumptions of transgendered children? Transgendered adults?	
Safety and respect	How do adults convey to children that experimenting with identities in the early learning setting is accepted?	
	How are diverse abilities respected and valued?	
	How do meanings of respect vary in different cultural or historical contexts?	
	How does a child show respect? How does an adult show respect? Is respect reciprocal?	
	This framework is grounded in a pedagogy of listening . Is this a new idea? How might I explore it further?	
	What does it mean to be in a reciprocal relationship with an adult? With a child?	
	Consider adult voices and children's voices: Who speaks more? Who listens more?	
Nourishment, sleep, and physical activity	In what way are infants involved in their routines, such as diapering, feeding, and sleeping?	
	Are each child's preferences for sleep and food recognized and responded to? Could more be done?	
	Are children asked to stand, sit, walk, eat, or dress in particular ways during the day?	
	Are children able to have control of their bodies all of the time? Some of the time?	
	Do children have choices about when they can be physically active? About how they can be active?	
	How do children contribute to determining the routines and schedules of indoor time? Outdoor time?	

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging	
Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Emotions, thoughts, and views	Spend time noticing the multiple (verbal and non-verbal) ways that thoughts, emotions, and views are expressed by children. What did I learn? What surprises me?
	Children sometimes express frustration, sadness, or anger. What choices do I make in these moments?
	What is my image of the child? What is my image of the educator ? How do these images influence the ways that I respond to children's frustration, sadness or anger?
	What tensions arise when children's behaviour challenges me?
	How do I respond to the strong, exuberant emotions and excitement that children bring to their play and learning?
	What is the role of the educator in solving conflicts between children? Is there a "right" way to do this? Think about images of children.
	Do children have opportunities to discuss major life events, such as birth, illness, and death?
	Do children have opportunities to discuss difficult life issues, such as violence, guns, fear, compassion, inclusion , or power?
	In what ways could I engage colleagues in discussions in these difficult areas?
Every child is a gift	How can each child contribute their gifts in relationship with adults and other children?
	Consider routines, schedules, or traditions. How do rhythms and flows of the day invite children to participate in the program that support and honour their individuality and learning styles?
	How might children and adults seek to know one another's gifts?
	How do I identify and name the distinct qualities that I recognize in each child?
	How do I create time and space to co-construct knowledge alongside each child?
	What could I do to contribute to a child's sense of pride in their gifts?

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging

Pathways for Engaging with Well-Being and Belonging

Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Interests and inquiries	Do children have opportunities to engage with objects and materials in unusual or surprising ways? How could I experiment with this idea?
	Are children's ideas, theories, and inquiries listened to?
	 What new ideas could I implement to ensure I have time to listen to children's theories?
	Can children investigate interests and passions over days? Weeks? Months?
	What materials invite transformation and inquiry? What materials inhibit transformation and inquiry?
	How do adult expectations shape/limit how children engage with materials?



Others, Materials, and the World

Children construct meaning as they engage with materials, other children and adults, the environment, the community, and the world. Objects, space, place, rhythms, rituals, gestures, sound, children and adults – these are all interconnected and participate in the interactions and inquiries that emerge in early care and learning spaces. Adults and children interact in reciprocal relationships where knowledge is co-constructed and outcomes cannot be predicted. Within a **pedagogy of listening** (Rinaldi, 2001, p. 80) **educators** create environments in which both adults and children can reflect, investigate, and be provoked to deepen understandings.



Play is an avenue to these vibrant engagements that is the basis of all learning. As children engage with the world they delve into inquiries, generate new ideas, solve problems, and build theories of people, places, and materials. These engagements can be vibrant, exhilarating and noisy, or they can be quiet, focused, and solitary. Providing time, space, and materials rich with possibilities for experimenting, imagining, and transforming allows children to create and explore in diverse ways based on their interests. Creating contexts for each child's engagement and participation is perhaps the most important way to inspire meaningful learning experiences.

Pathways for Engagement with Others, Materials, and the World

To inspire engagement with others, materials, and the world, adults design environments and cultivate practices considering these pathways:

- Knowledge and theories Educators reflect on the concept of knowledge and respect the knowledges and theories children hold.
- Spaces, objects, and materials
 Children can investigate and experiment with materials in ways that are meaningful to them.
- Reconnection to land and place
 Children and educators consider what it means to be in relationship with land, including the stories of land that are told and the stories that have been silenced.
- **Time for engagement** Educators and children experiment to reimagine routines, schedules, and transitions.

Local community connections

Early care and learning spaces become places of gathering, and children are active participants in the community.

Putting Critical Reflection to Work: Reflective Questions for Others, Materials, and the World



This section offers directions and ideas for furthering thinking about practice in relation to the living inquiry Engagement with Others, Materials and the World and each of its pathways. Considering these pathways and questions individually and with colleagues, families, children, and others invites discussion of meanings and perspectives in a spirit of wonder, justice, and research.

Pathways for Engaging with Others, Materials, and the World	
Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Knowledge and theories	 Think about the concept of knowledge. What does it mean? What knowledge is important? Who decides what knowledge is important? What kinds of questions do I ask about children's engagements? How does my language reflect children as creators of theories? How do my questions reflect children as constructors of knowledge? Consider a culture of research. What does that look like to me? How can I pay attention to the ways children bring multiple subjects or disciplines together? As I notice children using shovels to move water from one puddle to another, I might consider hydraulics, physics, geography, flow, waves, and diffraction and how children work with these complex ideas.
	How does thinking with multiple disciplines enrich how I see children's engagements? Consider the knowledge children bring into the program. What opportunities do they have to share and extend this knowledge?

r aniways for Engaging with Others, Materials, and the World	
Pathways C	Critically reflective questions
materials	Can children engage with materials in ways that are meaningful to them? What limits are placed on how children can engage with materials? Who decides the limits? Why are those limits in place? What opportunities do children have to access materials that can be transformed or investigated? What materials invite experimentation , problem solving, or intrigue? Consider how materials are presented. How does this limit or invite experimentation and investigation? For example: paint. Is it presented on tables or on the floor? In small or large vessels? One colour or many colours? • How could I creatively consider materials and/or their presentation? What might emerge to consider children as artists? Think about the many ways artists approach and engage with materials. • How might I investigate this further? • Could I invite an atelierista into my program?



Pathways for Engaging with Others, Materials, and the World

Painways for Engaging with Others, Materials, and the World		
Pathways	Critically reflective questions	
Reconnection to land and place	How might I contribute to children's reconnection with land and place?	
	What does it mean to be in relationship with land? To be of a place?	
1213	Whose stories of land are told and whose have been silenced?	
	What are the local Indigenous stories of the land? In what ways might the stories be different from those you know?	
	What are the children's stories of the land?	
Street .	Think about how childhood and nature have been idealized or romanticized in Western thought. What examples can you think of?	
	Do idealized notions of childhood and nature appear in my practice? In my community?	
	Consider a common worlds framework . How might I begin a dialogue with colleagues and invent new pedagogies together?	
	Think about mainstream worldviews and how people are shaped by them. How might I begin to consider worldviews outside of the mainstream?	
	We need to encourage knowledge of self – the sense of place: "Where are you from?" (Participant, as cited in B.C. Ministry of Education, 2015b, p. 26)	
Time for engagement	What opportunities do children have to explore ideas and questions over days, weeks, or months?	
	Is it important for children to have space to store projects or inquiries so they can be revisited? How could I talk to children about this?	
	How many transitions are there in my day? Could I try different ways of transitioning?	
	Do my routines and schedules limit or enhance opportunities for deep involvement in or with ideas?	
	Consider routines and schedules. Do I have the same routine every day? Every year? Could I experiment with routines and schedules?	
	What might emerge if I considered rhythms and flows rather than routines?	
	What role does the clock play in my day? Do routines follow the clock or the people in my program?	

Pathways for Engaging with Others, Materials, and the World

Pathways for Engaging with Others, Materials, and the World	
Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Local community connections	How might families, community members, Elders, and intergenerational knowledge holders be welcomed to enrich children's theories?
	How can children's theories be made visible to the broader community? What local partnerships might I find that would be helpful?
	How can I connect or reconnect to local Indigenous communities?
	What relationships in the community could be cultivated? (Think about gardens, hospitals, seniors' organizations, farms, galleries, museums, academic institutions, industry, or cultural organizations.)
	How might my setting become a place of gathering for cross-generational learning?





Communication and Literacies

Children use multiple modes of expressive languages to communicate ideas, participate in relationships, and make meaning in their homes and communities. From birth, children communicate through sounds, gestures, movements, and eye contact. As children grow they explore symbolic systems to think with and make meaning of the world. They explore expressive languages such as movement, dance, constructing, drama, play, art, mathematics, science, music, and storytelling.

Educators notice and reflect on the incredible range of practices and languages children use to communicate, respecting and supporting the diverse abilities and knowledge that children bring.

Technology is part of everyday life for most people, changing how we interact with one another to create new information and new ways to access and share knowledge. Children are living in this digital environment not just as consumers of technology, but also as producers as they create, improvise, and repurpose. As well, some children rely on technology to support interaction and living; for example, technologies that aid in communicating verbally or symbolically.

A technology-rich world opens new and exciting possibilities for children to **experiment** with images, print, gesture, sound, and video that can contribute to multiple modes of literacies and communication. At the same time, there are differing views on the use of technology in childhood, and not all children, schools, and families have the same access to technology. It is important that both children and adults become critical and **ethical** users of digital media. Technology is a reality of 21 st century, requiring reflection and ongoing dialogue between **educators**, families, and communities.

Pathways for Engaging with Communication and Literacies

To inspire communication and literacies, adults design environments and cultivate practices considering these pathways:

- Multiple modes of communication
 Educators listen to and honour the incredible range of expressive languages children use to communicate.
- Culture, family, traditions, and knowledge
 Children hear stories, poems, rhythms, chants, and songs that connect to the child's culture.
- Language and communication
 Children and educators engage in meaningful, reciprocal conversations.
- Vocabulary, symbols, and written language

Children have opportunities to engage with verbal, symbolic and written languages that are meaningful to them and their community.

Sound and word play

Educators recognize the sounds children make as forms of communication, and provide opportunities for children to explore and play with sounds and words.

Technology

Educators reflect on both the creative and the negative potentials of technology and childhood.



Putting Critical Reflection to Work: Reflective Questions for Communication and Literacies

This section offers directions and ideas for furthering thinking about practice in relation to the Communication and Literacies living inquiry and each of its pathways. Considering these pathways and questions individually and with colleagues, families, children, and others invites discussion of meanings and perspectives in a spirit of wonder, justice, and research.

Pathways for Engaging with Communication and Literacies		
Pathways	Critically reflective questions	
Multiple modes of communication	How do adults accept and honour all children's (babies, toddlers, children with diverse abilities) expressions of fear, joy, happiness, sadness, disgust, etc.?	
	Think about children as they engage in movement, dance, construction, drama, play, art, mathematics, science, music, and storytelling.How are these modes of communication? Or expression?	
	In what other ways do children communicate?	
	Do children have opportunities to communicate in various modes? How could these be extended?	
	How could I create space, time, and materials for children to communicate in all these modes?	
	Consider intentionally listening to all modes of expression. What could I and my colleagues discuss about this?	
	Your stories are a part of me. Your stories teach me about the many languages you use to show me your feelings. Your stories are written in your movements. Your stories are written in pitch and cadence. Your stories teach me how to dance with my own story (Rose, 2018).	
Culture, family, traditions, and knowledge	What opportunities do I provide for children to hear stories, poems, rhythms, chants, and songs? How do these connect to the child's culture ?	
	What opportunities are there for oral storytelling (e.g., personal narratives, traditional stories)?	
	How are the children's cultural backgrounds represented in the stories and symbols used from day to day? How are these representations integrated into other aspects of practice?	
	Do children experience the stories and symbols of their own and other cultures?	

Pathways for Engaging with Communication and Literacies	
Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Language and communication	What opportunities do children have for one-to-one interaction, both with adults and other children?
	How do I extend and deepen conversations with children?
	Think about intentionally listening. How might this shift how I converse with children?
	What opportunities do children have to listen to one another?
	In what ways do I encourage children to explore different ways of expressing a single idea? (e.g., Can you draw joy? What is a joyful sound? A joyful shape or colour? A joyful movement, a joyful facial expression?)
Vocabulary, symbols, and written language	How can children learn about a diversity of languages (e.g., sign language, local Indigenous languages, other languages used in the child's community)? How could I extend these interactions?
	In what ways do I welcome the use of languages other than English in the child's environment (e.g., by encouraging bilingual children to use both languages or by singing songs in other languages)?
	Consider symbolic representation; that is, making marks that have meaning. How could I explore these ideas with children?
	In what ways can children experiment with numbers, measurement, and form in meaningful contexts?
	How is written language made part of the rhythm of the program?
Sound and word play	How do I respond to the sounds infants make (e.g., their squeals, growls, grunts, and babbling)? How do I respond to the sounds non-verbal children make? In what ways do I show that I recognize these sounds as forms of oral communication?
	In what ways are children exposed to a wide range of singing and speaking voices, and in a variety of contexts?
	Sounds can be a source of delight and enjoyment. How can I enhance this (e.g., rhymes, alliteration, poems, chants, songs, dances)?
	In what ways do I encourage children to explore their sense of rhythm and melody (e.g., through listening, singing, and dancing in a variety of musical styles)?

Pathways for Engaging with Communication and Literacies	
Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Technology	What are my personal views of technology, childhood, learning, and creating in the 21st century?
U. Ma	What are the possibilities for children's engagement with technology? What are potential negative aspects?
	What creative opportunities does technology present for thinking about pedagogy ? For making children's learning and thinking visible?
	In what ways does technology present opportunities for children's creative expression?
	How might I begin to dialogue with families and colleagues about the complicated issues of technology and childhood?

Pathways for Engaging with Communication and Literacies

Identities, Social Responsibility, and Diversity

A positive personal and cultural identity is the awareness, understanding, and appreciation of all the facets that contribute to a healthy sense of oneself. It includes awareness and understanding of one's family background, **culture**, heritage, language, values, beliefs, and perspectives in a **pluralistic** society. Together, adults and children who have a positive personal and cultural identity and value personal and cultural narratives understand how these constitute identity and contribute to **common worlds**. Supported by a sense of self-worth, self-awareness, and positive identity, children become confident individuals who take satisfaction in who they are and what they can do to contribute to their own well-being and to the well-being of their family, community, and society (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2014).

Educators view children as citizens of their communities as well as citizens of the world and foster engagement and meaningful relationships with people and places, pasts and futures. Children can, and do, contribute to reflective dialogue, critical thinking, and decision making. Children's voices are listened to and their opinions valued, and they are supported to listen to and value the voices of others.

expanding an idea

Learning requires exploration of one's identity (First Nations Education Steering Committee, 2012).

Adults and children actively consider the interdependence of people, their environments, and fellow creatures, thereby supporting the ability to value individual, social, and cultural **diversity** through multiple perspectives. Practices and environments that encourage active participation in democratic practices create **ethical** foundations for social and environmental health and well-being, now and in the future.

Environments and practices are created in which diverse abilities, cultures, languages, traditions, and heritages are celebrated and woven together. Educators have an important role to play in contributing to **reconciliation** by educating others about the impacts of colonialism and clarifying how Indigenous peoples have had so much taken from them – including their children.

Acknowledging Canada's past and continuing colonial history is an important step that **educators** can take toward the development of respectful relations, redress, and reconciliation with Indigenous peoples.

To meaningfully participate in **pedagogical narration** and to contribute to transformative change, educators need to be willing to examine their practices and expectations of children to guard against the perpetuation of biased educational practices. It is critical for educators to believe in the capacity of all children to achieve at high levels.

Pathways for Engaging with Identities, Social Responsibility, and Diversity

To inspire thinking about identities, social responsibility, and diversity, adults design environments and cultivate practices considering these pathways:

 Family origins, cultural background, place of origin, allegiance and affiliation, citizenship, and other identities

Children become confident in their identities, including cultural, racial, physical, spiritual, linguistic, gender, social, and economic.

• Democratic practices

Educators create a culture in which different opinions and views of both adults and children are accepted, welcomed, and valued.

- Individual differences
 Children and adults accept and value difference in others and in themselves.
- Social responsibility and justice Children and educators discuss social justice issues such as segregation, diversity, poverty, race, war, gender, discrimination, and inequity.



- Reconciliation with Indigenous peoples
 Indigenous and non-Indigenous educators recognize their role in educating others about Canada's history of colonization and seek ways to contribute to reconciliation.
- Interrelationship of humans and their natural environments
 Educators and children recognize that humans and the natural world are connected and mutually
 dependent on one another and begin to reimagine pedagogies to respond to our environmental crisis.

Our pedagogical intention is not to examine nature as a separate subject or as something humans should look to as an educational benefit or cure, but rather as an interconnected network of relationships. It is from our social, cultural, and geographic locations that we begin to re-envision new pedagogical practices and modes of thinking that are designed to respond to a time of ecological crisis (Argent, Vintimilla, Lee, & Wapenaar, 2017, p. 5).



Putting Critical Reflection to Work: Reflective Questions for Identities, Social Responsibility, and Diversity

This section offers directions and ideas for furthering thinking about practice in relation to the living inquiry Identities, Social Responsibility and Diversity and each of its pathways. Considering these pathways and questions individually and with colleagues, families, children, and others invites discussion of meanings and perspectives in a spirit of wonder, justice, and research.



Pathways	Critically reflective questions
Family origins, cultural background, place of origin, allegiance, affiliation, citizenship, and other identities	What opportunities do I provide for children to see their cultural background reflected in my program? How might I include cultural books, stories, or artifacts?
	What opportunities do I provide for children to see diverse abilities reflected in my program? How might I include books, stories, or artifacts?
	In what ways do children have opportunities to discuss and learn about worldviews outside of dominant Euro-Canadian perspectives?
	How are children encouraged to think, speak, and learn about their identities? What does this look like to me?
	How can connections to Elders, knowledge holders, families, and community members enhance children's pride in identity?
	In what ways do I encourage children to become confident in their identities, including cultural, racial, physical, spiritual, linguistic, gender, social, and economic? Could discussions with colleagues generate new ideas about this?
	"When we say we are Musqueam, we say we are xwəlməxw, which means to belong to the land. Like a child belongs to their mother. So when the land is removed from our care, from our stewardship, it's like removing a mother from her child" (Pape & Dodds n.d., p. 7).
	How can I make sense of this quote in relation to my practice?
Democratic practices	What opportunities do children have to express opinions and values?
	What opportunities do children have to listen to the opinions and values of others?
	Democracy means making space for many opinions and views, not necessarily agreeing. How can I create a culture in which different opinions and views for both adults and children are accepted, welcomed, and valued?
	Can children participate in the making of rules, rituals, and procedures in their everyday world? How could this be done in ways that resist being tokenistic?
	In what ways are democratic practices incorporated into daily living in my program?

Pathways	Critically reflective questions		
Individual differences	How can children be encouraged to accept and value differences in others?		
11/1/2	How can children be encouraged to accept and value differences in themselves?		
	How can I initiate conversations with colleagues about values, practices, and procedures (eating, sleeping, self-care, etc.) embedded in the program? What assumptions about childhood are implicit in these practices? How are they aligned with mainstream culture?		
	Do these practice and procedures make every child feel that they belong?		
	How might I begin conversations with families about the values, practices, and procedures that are important to them?		
	How might I begin conversations with children about individual differences? How can differences be celebrated?		
Social responsibility and justice	How might children become involved in community or global projects related to social justice?		
	In what ways do children have opportunities to discuss real-life issues such as segregation, diversity, poverty, race, war, gender, discrimination, and inequity?		
	How are relationships fostered among children and adults of diverse abilities, heritages, histories, and cultural backgrounds?		
	How can children become aware of diverse worldviews and perspectives?		
	How can children begin to recognize and respond to discrimination and inequity?		
	Dialogues can bring tensions and disagreement. How do I create a culture where disagreement is a positive force?		

Pathways	Critically reflective questions	
Reconciliation with Indigenous peoples	What do I know about Canada's colonial history and the systemic marginalization and forced assimilation of Indigenous peoples? How can I find out more?	
	Think about the resource This Land, Indigenous Cultural Competency video modules (Lantern Films, n.d.). How might I bring this resource to my colleagues?	
	Educators have an important role to play in educating others about Canada's history of colonization. How can I contribute?	
	Indigenous social and cultural revitalization is underway in many communities. How can I contribute? How can I find out more?	
	In what ways have I included and honoured knowledgeable community Elders in my program?	
	Reconciliation needs to be part of the future, but we need to acknowledge what happened in the past (i.e., the attempted assimilation). Everyone has a role in that – Elders, youth – knowing what happened and connecting it to everyday life. Students need to think about how that history affects "me" and learn to look from the eyes of those who experienced it: this is the connectedness – taking everyone's ability to perceive and building empathy with the sharing. One can't force people to accept reconciliation, so there is still a lot of work to do (Participant, as cited in B.C. Ministry of Education, 2015b, p. 20).	



Pathways	Critically reflective questions		
Inter- relationships of humans and natural environments	How can I encourage children to recognize that humans and the natural world are connected and mutually dependent on one another?		
	In what ways can I acknowledge children's small moments with ants, birds, or worms as meaningful relationships?		
	What practices do I cultivate that enrich and deepen children's relationship with place, land, and the creatures and forms within it?		
	What stories do children have of land, place, and the creatures and forms within it?		
	What opportunities do children have to care for their environments (e.g., cleaning, fixing, gardening, helping others)?		
	How can I learn more about a common worlds framework?		
	We want young children to sense and register, in more than cognitive ways, that it is never just about us. And we also want to stay open to the possibility that other species and life-forms shape us in ways that exceed our ability to fully comprehend (Taylor & Pacini-Ketchabaw, 2015, p. 7).		

Examples of Engaging in the Process of Pedagogical Narration

This section presents two examples of pedagogical narrations to illustrate how the educators engaged with the components (see Figure 1, p. 53 and Section Two) and with critical reflection and a pedagogy of listening. The intention is to show ways of engaging with a pedagogical narration, and to highlight the multiple layers of meaning that can emerge, and its potential to transform practice.

The process of engaging with pedagogical narration does not follow a step-by-step progression; instead each component is taken up again and again. As adults and children work with a pedagogical narration they learn something and grow in their thinking. Then new questions are formulated, and choices are made about what to do next. As the arrows in Figure 1 indicate, each component is connected and overlapping and always illuminated by critical reflection and a pedagogy of listening. The process is living, ongoing, and continually producing something new. In this way the complexities of practice are made visible. These examples are not intended to serve as templates for the "right way" to create or engage with pedagogical narrations; rather they are intended as provocations or invitations to enliven curiosity about why, and what if.

Two examples follow:

- 1. **"The Educator I Once Was"** describes an ongoing inquiry in which the educator engages with the vision and principles of the framework over many months.
- 2. **"Rapunzel's Tower"** describes how an educator collected traces of a moment and used them to engage with a living inquiry and pathways to inspire collaborative dialogue.

Example One: The Educator I Once Was¹

Shannon McDaniel



"I began working at a toddler centre where the educators were exploring different practices as they went for walks in the forest. Instead of everyone walking in a group, the educators were spreading out in the forest and allowing children to explore freely. I was conflicted: I thought this was an amazing idea, but not realistic. I worried that children might run down trails where they could not be seen, or that I would not be able to keep track of everyone ... but I wanted to experience this and grow! I had confidence in my colleagues, and as I watched the children explore the forest it was amazing to see how each child was able to do what interested them most! I still felt anxious and concerned about safety, but I tried to push past this and enjoy the moment. However, after about 20 minutes, I called out that I couldn't do this anymore; I was much too nervous. So, with support from all the educators, we collected the children together. It was amazing to have so much support from the others. I never felt they were disappointed or that I had ruined the fun. Instead they congratulated me for trying. I was able to tell them I liked this idea and wanted to continue but needed further support to grow more comfortable.

As time went on I began to be more spontaneous in the woods. We climbed hills, built forts with the large sticks we found on the ground, lay in the moss to stare at the sky and watch the trees sway in the wind. It's amazing to see how much you can do and how time goes by so fast when you can explore more than just the trails in the woods.

But questions come to me: What we are doing to nature when we veer off the trails? As we walk around the forest are we destroying plants? Should we allow children to pull moss off the ground? What are we killing as we walk? Are child and adult feet destroying insect habitats? The children love going off the trails, but I often ask myself: Who are we responsible to?

¹ From "Pedagogical Narration: Becoming More Comfortable with Taking Risks" by S. McDaniel, 2017, The Early Childhood Educator, Vol 32, No. 2. Reprinted with permission.



Recently I read an article about the importance of children being barefoot. This made sense to me as I often see children trying to take off their socks and shoes. I wondered what it would be to like to have children explore the mud pit in the forest in their bare feet.

One day in the forest a child was in the mud pit squishing his boot into the mud, but I wasn't prepared for the experiment! I didn't have a towel or spare clothes, and I struggled with the thought that maybe this was the best time to try even if I wasn't prepared. So, I encouraged the child to feel mud with his hands. I too touched mud with a finger and picked it up with my hand. One boy was interested in touching mud so I offered to take off his boots. He had a look on his face that said, Are you serious or are you joking? I took off one of my boots and my sock, put my foot in the mud and held my breath from the cold feeling! It was definitely different on my feet compared to my hands. Is it because we always explore with our hands? He seemed to love it! I took off his second boot and sock so he could have both feet in mud. This attracted other children, and they began taking off their boots and socks. One child touched her foot to mud but quickly made it clear she wanted her sock and boot back on. Another child began lifting one foot and then the other in mud, then sat down and looked carefully at mud on his toes. He seemed more interested in mud on his feet than the mud pit. He walked away barefoot and explored for a while, then came back to ask for help with his boots. We didn't have anything to clean our feet off with so I used moss and rocks to wipe off our feet and we put our socks back on. I wondered if anyone would complain about socks and boots over muddy feet. No one seemed to even notice!



The educator I once was would have never have allowed bare feet in mud. I have become more willing to take risks and explore practices and ideas." (McDaniel, 2017, p. 22)

Critical reflection and a pedagogy of listening

Critical reflection and a pedagogy of listening are central to each component in the process of engaging with pedagogical narration (see Figure 1, page 53).



Working with a pedagogy of listening means paying attention to the incredible range of children's expression and to what they bring that may never have been heard before. When we listen we are suspending judgment and being open to difference.



Critical reflection involves thinking individually and with others about fundamental beliefs and understandings, and considering how these have shaped how we view the world. "I worried that children might run down trails where they could not be seen, or that I would not be able to keep track of everyone ... but I wanted to experience this and grow!"

(See more in Section Two p. 48 – 49)

Shannon is curious about exploring the forest in different ways and opened herself to trying something new. Her curiosity led her to:

- Consider images of the educator: what is her role in the forest?
- Consider images of children: what can children do in the forest?
- Critically reflect alone and with colleagues.
- Make pedagogical choices to extend her thinking and the children's thinking.

Curiosity provoked Shannon to try something, to think, to respond, to engage in difficult dialogue with colleagues, to experiment with pedagogy, to challenge her assumptions.



Collect traces

Traces of practice in pedagogical narrations can take the form of:

- Written field notes
- Digital audio-recordings
- Photographs
- Video clips
- Materials created by the children such as drawings, paintings, constructions

-expanding an idea/

Where can curiosity take us? How does curiosity provoke a responsibility to do differently? Whose curiosity matters? Shannon's curiosity about adult/children/feet/mud provoked her to call on a colleague to take photographs. In this sense Shannon is making a pedagogical choice, by choosing this moment to focus on the many possible moments in a day.

- She wrote notes, and, upon further critical reflection, added more thoughts.
- Of the many photos taken, Shannon chose which ones to share and which ones not to share – choices that shape how others see this moment. She knows there is not a "true" account of what happened with children, the forest and mud; rather her photos and notes tell her personal perspective.

Make traces visible

The photos are shared with the children, reminding them of the mud, reconnecting them to the moment, inviting new conversations and planning.

 Shannon shares the photos with colleagues at her centre, and together they reconsider the pedagogical choices they make in the forest.



"My colleagues and I continue to support one another to challenge what quality in early childhood care can look like."

- Shannon shares the photos with a pedagogist, extending thinking and learning through collaborative dialogue.
- She writes a pedagogical narration which is posted on a sandwich board outside the centre for families to read.

Through further collaborative dialogue and further reading, Shannon expands on the narration with more thoughts and questions.



Collaborative dialogue

Shannon engaged in collaborative dialogue in multiple ways with others:

- With colleagues, discussing ways of being in the forest, reflecting on photos and notes.
- With families, sharing the narration, inviting multiple perspectives.
- With children, noticing moss, building with sticks, sharing photos of mud, revisiting the forest, mud sticks, retelling stories.

- With a pedagogist, thinking with theory, images of children, and images of educators, and linking back to the Early Learning Framework.
- With conference participants, as she presented the narration.

Collaborative dialogue extended and added complexity to how Shannon (and her colleagues) saw this moment, and more questions emerged. For example:

 This new question provokes further curiosity, and further dialogue, taking Shannon, (and her colleagues and children) deeper into questions, and into more complexity, looking at a common worlds framework, reading about mushrooms and moss. "What we are doing to nature when we veer off the trails?"

-expanding an idea

Critical reflection – what you have noticed, what you chose to share, who you share it with.

• Collaborative dialogue is ongoing. Curiosity keeps conversations with colleagues and children alive. To "challenge what quality is" Shannon continues to reflect on different ways of thinking about and doing pedagogy.



Pedagogical choices and extending thinking and learning

"One boy was interested in touching mud so I offered to take off his boots. He had a look on his face that said, Are you serious or are you joking?"

Shannon is paying attention to the interests and theories of children and is reflecting on her role in the forest. She makes a pedagogical choice to go off the trail, lay in the moss, and experiment with being in the forest for long stretches of time, then to record these moments in a pedagogical narration. As Shannon considers the children's theories and interests and her role, she makes another pedagogical choice – to go barefoot in the mud. In this way pedagogical narration is a process for planning with the intention of extending thinking and learning for both educators and children. These choices and the narration are revisited and rethought, and further pedagogical choices are made. Educators and children are co-constructing knowledge.

Pedagogical choices and advocacy and leadership

Shannon enacted leadership and engaged in advocacy by:

- Submitting her pedagogical narration to a provincial journal for publication.
- Presenting the photos and sharing the narration at a provincial early year's conference.

"I often see children trying to take off their socks and shoes..."

In making her narration public, Shannon has opened dialogue in the broader community about images of childhood and children, and the deeply complex work of educators. In this way she has contributed to resisting

a "one-size-fits-all" model of early learning by inviting continuing collaborative dialogue on pedagogies that are localized and responsive to their diverse historical and cultural contexts.

Making visible the complexities of practice

In developing and interpreting throughout the pedagogical narrations process, the educator strives to make meaning of what has been observed and to make that meaning visible to oneself, colleagues, children, and families.

In reflecting on a moment, the educator asks the following questions: Do we observe children:

- Building theories?
- Developing their narratives of meaning?
- Making observations?
- Finding joy in movement, noise, touch, etc.?
- Using their senses/their bodies?
- Exploring, building, inventing?
- Exploring power, drama, excitement?
- Developing relationships and learning to negotiate within them?
- Making connections with families?
- Wondering about and exploring representation and literacy?
- Revisiting/remembering an action, a theory?

As you reflect on these questions, what pedagogical choices can you make to find out more?



What do we mean by Collaborative Dialogue?

When educators notice and document a moment in practice they can then engage in collaborative dialogue to consider the meanings, questioning taken-for-granted understandings. Educators are, in this sense, researching, asking why, and what if? These

dialogues are open, uncertain, and do not seek a predictable outcome, challenging us to always ask more questions.



Link to the Early Learning Framework

Each component of engaging in the process of pedagogical narration can be linked to the Early Learning Framework.

Look at the vision, principles, and context: how do these relate to the traces you have collected? What could you do to learn more? What pedagogical choices could you make to extend thinking and learning in relation to one of the principles? To the vision? Look at the living inquiries: which ones relate to your interests? Read the descriptions and consider how you might incorporate them into your narration.

Look at the critically reflective questions for each pathway: What questions intrigue you? What step could you take next to dig deeper into these questions?

What theories are you working with in your practice? What theories could you learn more about?

Example Two: Rapunzel's Tower Natsuko Motegi



"Look what I made! It's Rapunzel's tower," Ellen announces. She has been working quietly on her own at the art table with the recycled boxes and rolls that we recently put out. The educators are astonished by Ellen's careful construction and creative ideas to use these new materials.



"I'm making a chimney now," says Ellen as she folds a paper in half, and then draws squares on it. She carefully glues the chimney and roof over the tower and asks us to save it because the glue is too wet.



Before Ellen built the tower, she asked an educator to come and help her make a "recipe." The educator was busy at that moment, and by the time she came to help, Ellen had already started the building. We, the educators, are often surprised at Ellen's creativity and resourcefulness when she works by herself. As Ellen worked with the materials, her plan of making a "recipe" was changed to building a tower. She found the materials and tools she needed, and constructed it on her own with confidence.

It seemed she carefully planned to get the walls up, and knew how to add a roof on top using construction paper. The details of roof shingles were added by drawing as well (N. Motegi, personal communication, January 13, 2016). Working with a pedagogy of listening and being open to the unexpected, Natsuko pays close attention as Ellen engages with paper, glue, and pens. Natsuko's curiosity leads her to collect traces by taking photographs and recording Ellen's words.

By making traces visible, Natsuko can critically reflect on this moment and engage in collaborative dialogue with colleagues, families and with children, including Ellen.

Natsuko and her colleagues link to the Early Learning Framework by focusing on the: Engagement with Others, Materials, and the World living inquiry.

They choose two pathways:

Pathway: Knowledge and theories



Educators reflect on the concept of knowledge, and respect the knowledges and theories children hold

Pathway: Spaces, objects, and materials

Children can investigate and experiment with materials in ways that are meaningful to them

Natsuko and her colleagues use the critically reflective questions for each pathway (see p. 69 – 90) as provocation for dialogue, and these questions and thoughts emerge:

- As educators we were astonished by Ellen's creativity and construction. We reflected on why we were astonished, which led us to think about our image of the child. How does our image of the child shape what we expect from children?
- What knowledge did Ellen bring to this project? Ellen's ability to build a three-dimensional structure out of two-dimensional material requires spatial perception, knowledge of building design, structural balance and stability, and an understanding of the properties of paper and glue. As we think about the complex process Ellen engaged in, we wonder how we as educators might pay closer attention to the knowledges of children. We are curious if this might shift how or what we see as children engage with materials.
- What does "recipe" mean to Ellen? What can Ellen tell us about her thinking as she built the tower? Might she share this knowledge with others?
- Do other children have thoughts about how this tower was constructed?
- Why did Ellen name this a Rapunzel Tower? Does she have a story to tell? Could this story be expressed through words? Song? Dance? Clay?
- How did the placement and presentation of materials contribute to Ellen's engagement? What might happen if the paper and glue were placed alongside blocks? Or clay? How can we experiment with materials to provoke different kinds of engagements?

• As educators, how did we respond to Ellen's creation? Did our questions and comments reflect the depth of knowledge Ellen brought to her project?

As Natsuko and her colleagues delved into these conversations, they uncovered multiple layers of meaning and brought different perspectives to the pedagogical narration. They did not seek a conclusion or answer, instead they recognized that there were many pedagogical choices open to them. The process of thinking together is never finished, and the dialogue continues.

Glossary

Aboriginal: a term defined in the Constitution Act 1982 that refers to all Indigenous people in Canada, including "Indians" (status and non-status), First Nations, Métis, and Inuit peoples. More than 1.5 million people in Canada identified themselves as Aboriginal on the 2016 Census, the fastest growing population in Canada. While still appropriate, the term "Aboriginal" is being replaced by "Indigenous" (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2016).

All world relations: the understanding that humans, creatures, plants, trees, and non-living entities, forces, and landforms are all interconnected. The notion of all world relations is embedded in a common worlds framework and suggests that all beings and non-living entities are entangled and dependent on one another.

Assimilation: the practice of bringing into conformity with the customs and attitudes of a group. In the context of this framework, assimilation refers to blending in and dominant Euro-Canadian culture, without distinction (Pape & Dodds, n.d., p. 69).

Atelierista: an educator who works with children and educators facilitating artistic engagements, smallgroup arts-based projects, and various artistic interventions and events in addition to studio investigations and inventions. It is a role similar to an artist-in-residence.

Children with diverse abilities and needs: children whose learning is supported through access to additional or specialized supports, services and instruction. They may experience, or be at risk of, developmental delay or disability and may require support beyond that required by children in general.

Children with extra support needs: children who are experiencing, or who are at risk of, developmental delay or disability and who require support beyond that required by children in general. The developmental delay or disability may be in one or more of the following areas: physical, cognitive, social, emotional, communicative, or behavioural. Children may be experiencing, or at risk of, developmental delay or disability as a result of neurobiological factors or social/environmental factors.

Co-constructing knowledge: the process by which educators are actively engaged in building knowledge alongside children in a learning collective that includes family and community. Educators draw on ideas and thoughts from pedagogical narrations, a moment or event to continue conversations that extend thinking and create space for new ideas. This process recognizes children as competent contributors to their own learning.

Collaborative dialogue: the process of educators engaging in collaborative dialogue to consider the meanings and questioning taken-for-granted understandings from a moment in practice. Educators are, in this sense, researching, asking why, and what if? These dialogues are open, uncertain, and do not seek a predictable outcome, challenging us to always ask more questions.

Colonization, Colonialism: the action or process of taking control of people, land, and waters by an outside entity who then occupies the land, extracts its value, and dominates the people (Pape & Dodd, n.d., p. 69).

Common worlds framework: a framework to reconceptualize childhood pedagogies that includes taking account of children's relations with all the others in their worlds – including the more-than-human others. The term 'common world' suggests that worlds are not just human societies, but a collective of human and non-humans. Instead of positioning children, along with animals, in an idealized, depoliticized, and generically pure natural domain, a common worlds framework is geo-culturally attuned and responsive to the considerable challenges of ethical multispecies cohabitation in anthropogenically damaged life-worlds. It situates diverse children' s lives within the real, messy, imperfect, and undivided natural and cultural worlds they (and we) inherit and inhabit (Taylor & Pacini-Ketchabaw, 2017, p.3).

Community of practice: a model of professional learning in which educators meet regularly to critically reflect on knowledge, experiences, values, and practice. By engaging with pedagogical narrations, educators share, discuss, and challenge ideas and practices. Resources (readings, articles, books) are provided to support the discussions. These sessions invite educators to think deeply about issues and moments from their practice, not to find final answers or "truths," but to generate richer, meaningful pedagogical understandings.

Core Competencies: a set of intellectual, personal, and social competencies that students develop to engage in deeper learning and to support lifelong learning through the course of their schooling. The Core Competencies are embedded in each area of learning and are activated through the learning experiences and activities. In B .C ., the Core Competencies are the Communication competency, Thinking competency, and Social and Personal competency. (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2016)

Critically reflective practice/critical reflection: the practice of questioning taken-for-granted understandings, assumptions, and values that are implicit in how we think about children, education, and learning. Reflection alone is not transformative; becoming critically reflective means stretching our thinking beyond our known understandings.

Culture: the shared understandings that help groups of people make sense of their worlds and communicate with one another. Culture is a group's accepted values, traditions, and lifestyles that guide the way people lead their day-to-day lives.

Decolonization: the process of exposing the effects of colonization, supporting healing from the injuries inflicted by colonization, revitalizing affected cultures and peoples, and seeking to transform the institutions that enforce ongoing colonization (Pape & Dodds, n.d., p. 68). See also Colonization.

Democratic practice: the practice of creating a culture in programs in which children and adults can participate with others in shaping decisions affecting themselves. This means creating opportunities for sharing, exchanging, and valuing perspectives and opinions of children. In this sense, democracy is a way of relating that can and should pervade all aspects of everyday life. Democratic practices create the possibility for diversity to flourish. By so doing, it offers the best environment for the production of new thinking and new practice (Moss, 2007, p.3).

Diversity: the different beliefs, customs, practices, languages, behaviours, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, and physical differences of individuals and cultural groups. Honouring diversity is based on the principle that differences that are recognized and celebrated benefit our communities. Honouring diversity requires that we encourage understanding, acceptance, mutual respect, and inclusion in order to make schools, communities, and society as a whole more equitable for all people.

Early childhood educator: a person who has been certified by the B.C. government's Early Childhood Educator Registry. Early childhood educators must complete the basic Early Childhood Education training program and meet the character and skill requirements outlined in the legislation. This includes an assessment of the individual's suitability to work with children. Depending on the level of certification, work experience hours may be required.

Early years professional: a general term used to describe a person with specialized education, training, and/or experience in supporting children's learning and/or development in the early years. An early years professional may be a licensed early childhood educator and/or a person with other specialized training.

Educator: an adult who works in early year settings, school-based settings, community-based settings, and post-secondary settings, including teachers. While it is acknowledged that many terms are in use and people may have preferences on what they call themselves, in this framework the term educator refers to adults who work in these settings.

Ethical: practices which foreground active personal responsibility for making ethical choices...an ethical actor in relationshipwith others and located in a particular context. (Dahlberg & Moss, 2005, p.13)

Experiment, Experimentation: in the context of this framework, being open to something new, a way of thinking and doing that did not previously exist. To experiment with pedagogy means to go beyond the normative practices in order to create and tell different stories of knowing and being in our common world.

First Nations: the self-determined political and organizational unit of the Indigenous community that has the power to negotiate, on a government-to government basis, with B.C. and Canada. Currently, there are 615 First Nations communities in Canada, which represent more than 50 nations or cultural groups and about 60 Indigenous languages. This term does not have a legal definition but should be used instead of the term "Indian," which is inaccurate, and offensive to many (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2016).

First Peoples: First Nations, Métis, and Inuit peoples in Canada, as well as Indigenous peoples around the world (B.C. Ministry of Education, 2016).

Holistic: an approach to early learning that encompasses the physical, social, emotional, intellectual, and creative nature of a child. A holistic approach focuses on the whole child, rather than concentrating only on individual components.

Inclusion/inclusive: the practice of having children with diverse abilities and disabilities attend their neighbourhood schools or learning centres in age-appropriate, regular education settings, participating alongside their peers in all aspects of learning where each student is supported to meaningfully engage, learn, and contribute to the learning community and culture. Specialized assistance and instruction, when required, is provided to each child, within the regular education environment. Additional support may also be provided in a small group or individual setting.

Inclusive learning and care: the principle that children of all abilities, including children with diverse abilities and needs, have equitable access to quality learning and child care and are supported in play and learning along with other children in a regular program. Inclusive learning and care supports the individual strengths and needs of each child, allowing them to meaningfully engage, learn, and contribute to the community and culture of their program. All educators, providers, and parents/caregivers collaborate as a team to meet the needs of children in their programs. The presence and engagement of a diverse group of children, including those with diverse needs, provides significant opportunities to learn about, value, and celebrate diversity in communities.

Indigenous: a collective name for the original peoples of North America and their descendants. The Canadian Constitution recognizes three distinct groups of Indigenous (Aboriginal) peoples: Indians (referred to as First Nations), Métis and Inuit. Increasingly, and in keeping with international agreements, "Indigenous Peoples" is being used instead of "Aboriginal peoples."

Inquiry: a framework that allows educators to think with and to bring focus to pedagogies. An inquiry may emerge for educators while they are paying attention to the theories children build, or when they are working with their own questions, or a combination of both. An inquiry should provoke educators to challenge themselves to see and do differently without having clear answers. It becomes a focal point for discussion among colleagues, parents, and children. Inquiries have no preset outcomes but emerge organically as children and adults think alongside one another. For example, an educator may pose an inquiry question such as, How might I think about time differently? What might emerge if I thought about time as flow, rather than in schedules?

Inuit: an Indigenous people united by a common culture and language. In Canada, the majority of the population lives in 53 communities spread across Inuit Nunangat, the Inuit homeland encompassing 35 percent of Canada's landmass and 50 percent of its coastline (Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, 2018).

Localized pedagogies: methods and practices of teaching by exploring ideas and issues about learning and thinking in ways that are relevant, meaningful, and inclusive of a community's people, place, and history. Localized pedagogy is based on respecting the diversity of people and communities and resisting a "onesize-fits-all" approach to practice. See also Pedagogy.

Marginalized: to be placed in a position of being unimportant or powerless within a society or group.

Métis: a person who self-identifies as Métis, is distinct from other Indigenous peoples, is of historic Métis Nation ancestry, and who is accepted by the Métis Nation.

Pedagogical choices: everything educators choose to do with children and with the environment, materials, traditions, routines, songs, and books. In examining why particular choices are made, educators may become more intentional in their pedagogical choices.

Pedagogical narration: the process of noticing and collecting moments from daily practice and sharing these with colleagues, children, and families to make children's learning processes and inquiries, as well as educators' pedagogical choices, visible and open to interpretation and reflection. Engaging with pedagogical narration is central to the vision of this framework.

Pedagogist: a professional responsible for helping to create and sustain quality early childhood education programs through supporting educators to continue to implement the B.C. Early Learning Framework; to design, execute, and evaluate inquiries/projects within their practice settings; and to engage in critically reflective dialogue about pedagogical practice through pedagogical narration. The term "pedagogist" is being taken up across Canada, though local communities may adopt terms more suited to their locale. For instance, Indigenous communities may consider knowledge keepers or knowledge holders as pedagogists.

Pedagogy: the method and practice of teaching by exploring ideas and issues and creating environments where learning and thinking can flourish. With this understanding, education and pedagogy are not about learning facts but are concerned with ethical questions of living in the world together.

Pedagogy of listening: means paying attention to the incredible range of children's expression and to what they bring that may never have been heard before. It means suspending judgement and being open to difference.

Pluralistic: a system or state of society in which many groups, ethnicities, races, and religions coexist while maintaining their distinctiveness and culture.

Post-foundational theories: theories that challenge foundational ideas, which are ideas that allude to the privilege of rational human subject as the basis of knowledge, and which can be expressed through language that conveys pure truth unfettered by values, beliefs, politics, and power (Moss, 2006). Post-foundational theories include post-structuralist, queer, post-colonial, and socio-material theories, among others, all of which interrogate how "their effects have been devastating to many people on the wrong side of humanism's subject/object binaries ... [who] have struggled to reclaim and rewrite untold histories, to subvert what counts as knowledge and truth, and to challenge those who claim the authority to speak for them" (Pacini-Ketchabaw et al., [2015, p. 207]).

Reconciliation: an ongoing individual and collective process that follows from engaging the truth of colonial histories. It is about establishing and maintaining a mutually respectful relationship between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in this country. For reconciliation to happen, "there has to be awareness of the past, acknowledgement of the harm that has been inflicted, atonement for the causes, and action to change behaviour" (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015, p. 6).

Rhizomatic/rhizome: a term borrowed from Deleuze and Guattari (1987) to describe approaches in early childhood that create movement, that are always becoming, and that hold potential for multiple trajectories and lines of flight. For example, a rhizomatic plant such as a fern spreads without a central root, a place of origin, or even a logical pattern. The image of the rhizome can illustrate the complexities of early childhood pedagogies—pedagogies that are always in motion, proliferating new ways of knowing, and becoming with children in relationship with the things and spaces that come together in everyday practice (Pacini-Ketchabaw et al., 2015. p. 213).

Socio-cultural theories: theories that focus on how societal factors contribute to children's learning and development. They emphasize the impact of the culture, history, beliefs, attitudes, and social interactions that surround a child and how these influence what learning takes place.

Traces: artifacts such as photos, notes, text, audio, journals or digital data, and materials created by the children, such as drawings, paintings, constructions that are collected for pedagogical narrations.

Worldview: a way of seeing the world as connected to histories, traditions, modes of thought, and types of ideas about existence, values, social and economic systems, and relations between living beings as well as between living beings and non-living ones.

References

- Argent, A. L. (2014). Dogwood room entanglements. International Journal of Child, Youth and Family Studies, 5, 847-853. doi:10.18357/ijcyfs.argental.5422014
- Argent, A. L., Vintimilla, C.D., Lee, C., & Wapenaar, K. (2017). A dialogue about place and living pedagogies: Trees, ferns, blood, children, educators, and wood cutters. Journal of Childhoods and Pedagogies School of Education and Childhood Studies 1, 1-21.
- B.C. Aboriginal Child Care Society. (2017). First Nations Early Learning and Child Care Regional First Nations Engagement for National Indigenous EELCC Framework Development. Retrieved from: https://gallery. mailchimp.com/a74eaafbca72d669859e6453b/files/6cfaf7a2-f3e1-4228-a304-d4865970c094/ BCACCS_ELCC_Regional_Engagement_RollUp_Fall_2017.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Children and Family Development. (2004). Child Care Sector Occupational Competencies. Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/early-learning/teach/ece/bc_ occupational_competencies.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2000). Primary Program: A Framework for Teaching. Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/early-learning/teach/resources/primary_prog.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2008). British Columbia early learning framework. Victoria, B.C.
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2013). *Aboriginal education*. Retrieved from: https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/sites/ curriculum.gov.bc.ca/files/pdf/aboriginal_education_bc.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2014). Positive personal and cultural identity competency profiles: Draft. Retrieved from: https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/sites/curriculum.gov.bc.ca/files/pdf/PPCICompetencyProfiles.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2015a). B.C.'s redesigned curriculum: An orientation guide. Retrieved from: https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/sites/curriculum.gov.bc.ca/files/pdf/curriculum_brochure.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2015b). Aboriginal worldviews and perspectives in the classroom: Moving forward. Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/aboriginal-education/awp_moving_forward.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2015c). Introduction to British Columbia's redesigned curriculum. Retrieved from: https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/sites/curriculum.gov.bc.ca/files/pdf/curriculum_intro.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2016). *Glossary of curriculum terms.* Retrieved from: https://curriculum.gov. bc.ca/sites/curriculum.gov.bc.ca/files/pdf/glossary.pdf
- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2018a). Aboriginal report 2013/14 2017/18: How are we doing? Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/reports/ab-hawd/ab-hawd-school-district-public.pdf

- B.C. Ministry of Education. (2018b). B.C.'s new curriculum: Core competencies. Retrieved from: https:// curriculum.gov.bc.ca/competencies
- Canadian Council of Ministers of Education. (2014). CMEC early learning and development framework. Retrieved from: http://www.cmec.ca/Publications/Lists/Publications/Attachments/327/2014-07-Early-Learning-Framework-EN.pdf
- Dahlberg, G., & Moss, P. (2005). Ethics and politics in early childhood education: 1. publ. London: Routledge Falmer.
- Government of Canada. (2018). Indigenous early learning and child care framework. Retrieved from: https:// www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/indigenous-early-learning/2018framework.html
- Government of Canada (2019). Métis Nation early learning and child care (ELCC) accord. Retrieved from: https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/indigenous-early-learning/ accord-metis.html.
- Government of Canada. (2017). Multilateral early learning and child care framework. Retrieved from: https://www.canada..ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/early-learning-child-care/ reports/2017-multilateral-framework.html.
- Government of Canada. (2018). Aboriginal population profile. 2016 census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-510-X2016001. Retrieved from: https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/abpopprof/index.cfm?Lang=E
- First Nations Early Childhood Development Council. (2011). The BC First Nations early childhood development framework. Retrieved from: http://www.nscr.bc.ca/childcare/resource-pdf/First%20 Nations%20ECD%20Framework.pdf
- First Nations Education Steering Committee. (2012). First People's principles of learning. Retrieved from: http://www.fnesc.ca/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/PUB-LFP-POSTER-Principles-of-Learning-First-Peoples-poster-11x17.pdf
- Ingold, T. (2011). Being alive, essays on movement knowledge and description. London and New York: Routledge.
- Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami (2018). Retrieved from: https://www.itk.ca/what-we-do/
- Kind, S. (2014). Material encounters. International Journal of Child, Youth and Family Studies, 5, 865-877. doi:10.18357/ijcyfs.kinds.5422014
- Lantern Films. (n.d.). This land: Indigenous cultural competency. Video modules. Retrieved from: http:// drawingwisdom.ca/thisland
- Machado, A. (2004). Border of a dream: Selected poems of Antonio Machado. Port Townsend, WA: Copper Canyon Press.

- MacNaughton, G. (2005). Doing Foucault in early childhood studies: Applying poststructural ideas. New York: Routledge.
- McDaniel, S. (2017). Pedagogical narration: Becoming more comfortable with taking risks. The Early Childhood Educator 32, 22-23.
- Métis Nation British Columbia. (2018). Métis ways Miyopimatisiwin: Bringing our children home, strengthening our communities through the well-being of our families. Unpublished manuscript.
- Ministry of Youth, Métis Nation British Columbia. (2018). Métis Culture. Retrieved from: http://www. metisyouthbc.com/resources/metis-culture/
- Moss, P. (2006). Structures, understandings and discourses: Possibilities for re-envisioning the early childhood worker. Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood, 7, 30-41. http://dx.doi.org/10.2304/ciec.2006.7.1.30
- Moss, P. (2007). Bringing politics into the nursery: Early childhood education as a democratic practice. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 15, 5-20. doi:10.1080/13502930601046620
- Moss, P. (2013). Transformative change and real utopias in early childhood education: A story of democracy, experimentation, and potentiality. London, England: Routledge.
- National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. (2012). Inunnguiniq: Caring for children the Inuit way. Retrieved from: https://www.nccah-ccnsa.ca/docs/health/FS-InunnguiniqCaringInuitWay-Tagalik-EN.pdf
- National Committee on Inuit Education. (2011). First Canadians, Canadians first: National strategy on Inuit education. Retrieved from: https://www.itk.ca/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/National-Strategy-on-Inuit-Education-2011.pdf
- Office of the Auditor General. (2015). An audit of the education of Aboriginal students in the B.C. public school system. Victoria, B.C.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2018). Framework for action: Become a champion and achieve an equitable, high-quality & innovative transition from birth to school. Paris.
- Pacini-Ketchabaw, V., Nxumalo, F., Kocher, L., Elliot, E., & Sanchez, A., (2015). Journeys: Reconceptualizing early childhood practices through pedagogical narration. North York, Ontario: University of Toronto Press.
- Pape, J., & Dodds, K. (n.d.). This land: A companion resource for early childhood educators. Retrieved from: http://drawingwisdom.ca/thisland
- Reconciliationcanada.ca. (2019). Shareable Resources. [online] Retrieved from: http://reconciliationcanada.ca/walk-for-reconciliation-2017/shareable-resources/
- Rinaldi, C. (2001). Making learning visible: Children as individual and group learners. Reggio Emilia, Italy: Reggio Children & Project Zero.

- Rose, L. (2018). Definition of empathy [Blog post]. Retrieved from: http://www.revealandrelate.ca/blog/ definition-of-empathy
- Taylor, A., & Pacini-Ketchabaw, V. (2015). Learning with children, ants, and worms in the anthropocene: Towards a common world pedagogy of multispecies vulnerability. Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 23(4), 507-529. doi:10.1080/14681366.2015.1039050
- Taylor, A., & Pacini-Ketchabaw, V. (2017). Kids, raccoons, and roos: Awkward encounters and mixed affects. *Children's Geographies, 15*(2), 131-145. doi:10.1080/14733285.2016.1199849
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015a). Summary of the final report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Retrieved from: http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2015/trc/IR4-7-2015-eng.pdf
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b). What we have learned: Principles of Truth and Reconciliation. Retrieved from: http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2015/trc/IR4-6-2015-eng.pdf
- United Nations. (1989). Convention on the rights of the child. Retrieved from: https://www.ohchr.org/ Documents/ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf
- United Nations. (2008). United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/DRIPS_en.pdf
- Wanamaker, L. (2014). Thoughts on noticing. Unpublished manuscript
- Wanamaker, L. (2017). Within a room. Journal of Childhood Studies, 42, 45-47. doi:10.18357/jcs. v42i1.16886
- Watters, H. (2015). Truth and Reconciliation chair urges Canada to adopt UN declaration on Indigenous Peoples. CBC News. Retrieved from: https://www.cbc.ca.

Acknowledgements

The Ministry of Education, the Ministry of Children and Family Development, and the Ministry of Health would like to thank all those who contributed to the creation of this document. In particular, the Ministry acknowledges the guidance of the organizations and individuals that comprised the **Early Learning Framework Advisory Group**:

Organization	Name(s)	
BC Aboriginal Child Care Society	Kirsten Bevelander, Graham Giles	
BC Confederation of Parent Advisory Councils	Kim Currie, Jen Mezei	
BC Council of Administrators of Special Education	Sue MacDonald	
BC Early Childhood Pedagogy Network; School of Child and Youth Care, University of Victoria	B. Denise Hodgins	
BC Primary Teachers' Association	Janine Fraser, Carol Johns, Joanna Larson	
BC Teachers' Federation	Grahame Rainey	
Community-based early childhood educator	Margot Leeson	
Early Childhood Care and Education, Capilano University	Laurie Kocher	
Early Childhood Education, University of British Columbia	Iris Berger	
Early Childhood Educators of BC	Emily Gawlick, Lynne Reside	
Early Childhood Research and Policy Consultant	Jane Beach	
Early Years and Community Development Consultant	Alison Bledsoe	
ECE Articulation Committee, Vancouver Island University	Sheila Grieve	
Family Support Institute of BC	Mandy Young	
Fédération des parents francophones de Colombie-Britannique	Jocelyne Ky, Shannie Harvey	
First Nations Education Steering Committee	Thane Bonar, Juanita Coltman, Rhea Doolan, Debbie Jeffrey, Linda Mim	
Human Early Learning Partnership, University of British Columbia	Barry Forer, Pippa Rowcliffe, Kimberly Schonert- Reichl	
Métis Nation British Columbia	Nadine Gagné-L'Hirondelle, Colleen Hodgson, Jason Simmonds	
Ministry of Children and Family Development	Julia Bresalier, Michelle Gilmour, Emily Horton, Joanne Murrell, Corine Sagmeister	
Ministry of Health	Dawn Williams	

Organization	Name(s)	
Ontario Institute for Education Studies	Jane Bertrand	
Prince Rupert (SD 52) Aboriginal and Early Learning	Roberta Edzerza	
Provincial Child Care Council	Charlene Gray, Donald (Wayne) Robertson, Q.C.	
Rocky Mountain (SD 6), Early Learning	Jennifer Turner	
West Vancouver (SD 45) Early Learning	Sandra-lynn Shortall	
West Vancouver (SD 45), StrongStart BC	Deanna Devita	

Deepest gratitude is extended to:

the elders and community members of the WSÁNEĆ Nations who shared their wisdom on childhood and learning, including:

Helen Jack	Lila Sam	Linda Gladstone	Kendra Underwood
May Sam	Dan Sam	Gus Underwood	

The Ministry of Education also acknowledges the work of the following individuals:

Kim Atkinson, Lead Writer, Early Childhood Educator, Pedagogist Maureen Dockendorf, Early Years Consultant Arnold Toutant, Consultant

Special thanks goes to:

Natsuko Motegi and Shannon McDaniel for contributing pedagogical narrations.

Photo shoot locations:

Lexie's Little Bears Child Care, Victoria Lochside Elementary School, Saanich mem7iman Child Development Centre, Sechelt University of Victoria Child Care Services, Victoria Cover Photo by Kim Atkinson

A special thank you goes out to all families, parents, caregivers, teachers, and early childhood educators, who contributed photos and/or gave permission to use images of their children, all of which have brought this document to life.

The Ministry of Education posted a draft of the revised B.C. Early Learning Framework online from September to December 2018 to provide an opportunity for public feedback. Many British Columbians responded. Additional regional sessions were held across the province with hundreds of early years coordinators, early childhood educators, child care providers, community partners, Indigenous organizations, librarians, licensing officers, primary teachers, and post-secondary institutions representing voices from across the province. Appreciation goes to the countless individuals and groups that reviewed one or more drafts of the document during its development and provided their valuable input.



Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication Data Main entry under title: British Columbia early learning framework

ISBN 978-0-7726-7331-2

1. Early childhood education - British Columbia.

2. Early childhood education. 3. Child development.

I. British Columbia. Ministry of Education. II. British Columbia. Ministry of Health. III. British Columbia. Ministry of Children and Family Development. IV. British Columbia. Early Learning Advisory Group.

LB1139.3.C3B74 2019 372.2109711 C2019-960031-2

Copyright © 2019 Province of BC



